Housing Qualities and Effects on Identity and Well-Being: Theoretical Perspectives for Interdisciplinary Research on Asylum Seeker Receptions Centres





Av Anne Sigfrid Grønseth, Eli Støa, Ragne Øwre Thorshaug and Åshild Lappegard Hauge







Kr. 200,-

ISSN 0807-2647 (Trykt utgave)
ISBN 978-82-7184-386-1 (Trykt utgave)

ISSN 2464-3661 (Nettversjon)
ISBN 978-82-7184-388-5 (Nettversjon)

Alle synspunkter står for forfatterne sin regning. De må ikke tolkes som uttrykk for oppfatninger som kan tillegges Høgskolen I Lillehammer. Denne artikkel kan ikke reproduseres - helt eller delvis - ved trykking, fotokopiering eller på annen måte uten tillatelse fra forfatteren.

Any views expressed in this article are those of the authors. They should not be interpreted as reflecting the views of Lillehammer University College. This article may not be reprinted in part or in full without the permission of the author.

Contents

Preface	3
Introduction	
Brief History of Houses in a European Context	7
Effects of Housing on Well-Being	9
The House: Meaning, Identity and Social Organisation	13
Meaning	13
Identity	15
Social Organisation	16
House and Home	18
Making Home	20
Homely or Unhomely	22
Housing for asylum seekers: Places of Home?	23
Houses as Agentive Mediators	26
Architecture and Housing Qualities	29
Housing Quality – Normative Approaches	29
Questioning Essentialism	32
Quality Assessment	34
The Asylum Seeker Reception Centres in Norway	38
Concluding Remarks: A Humanistic Perspective on Housing and Home for Asylum	
Seekers	43
References	46

Preface

Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), SINTEF Building and Infrastructure, and University College of Lillehammer (HiL) succeeded together in obtaining funding for the current research project on asylum seeker reception centres by Norwegian Research Council's research program FRIPRO for 2012-2015: "What Buildings Do - The Effect of the Physical Environment on Quality of Life of Asylum Seekers". The project is furthermore supported financially by The Norwegian Directorate of Immigration (UDI) as well as internally funded by NTNU, HiL and SINTEF Building and Infrastructure.

Facing the many complexities and challenges of conducting the project, we have had invaluable input and support from our Advisory Board including academic experts in the field, representatives from actual NGOs, UDI, organisations that run asylum-seeker reception centres, and prior residents. Ultimately, the research team extends grateful appreciation to the many employees and residents of asylum-seeker reception centres for their willingness and generous collaboration that have allowed us to pursue the aims of this project. Any faults or mischievements rest on the research team alone.

The writing of this report was headed by Anne Sigfrid Grønseth (HiL) in co-authorship with Eli Støa (project leader, NTNU), Ragne Thorshaug (NTNU), Åshild Lappegard Hauge (SINTEF), while also drawing on valuable comments from team-researchers Einar Strumse (HiL) and Karine Denizou (SINTEF). Svein Åge Kjøs Johnsen (HiL) has undertaken a quality assessment.

Research Team:

Eli Støa (project leader, NTNU), Åshild Lappegard Hauge (SINTEF), Karine Denizou (SINTEF), Einar Strumse (HiL), Anne Sigfrid Grønseth (HiL), and Ragne Thorshaug (PhD candidate NTNU).

Advisory Board:

Nora Sveaass (UiO), Berit Berg (NTNU), Camilla Risan (NOAS), Omar Ishak (NOAS, and former resident of asylum-seeker reception centre), NOAS, Solvei Skogstad (NOAS), Lars Steinar Hansen (UDI), Kato Helgheim (Hero), Tom Hjertholm (Norsk Folkehjelp), Mohamed

Bashir Jama Farah (Norwegian People's Aid/ Hero and former resident of asylum-seeker reception centre).

Introduction

"What Buildings Do - The Effect of the Physical Environment on Quality of Life of Asylum Seekers" is a research project aiming to document and identify the effect of housing quality on well-being among the asylum seekers. This report is a partial delivery of the project, and highlights relevant literature, which includes perspectives from social anthropology, geography, environmental psychology and architecture. Among the main activities in the project is a web-survey submitted to all the leaders of the Norwegian asylum-seeker reception centres (Strumse et al., 2016), case-studies including interviews with employees in selected receptions centres (Hauge et al. 2015), examination of alternative architectural solutions (for instance by including architect student's work) (Støa 2014), and fieldwork in three centres focusing on the residents' perspective (Thorshaug Work In Progress).

There is a wide literature on research of institutions such as psychiatric hospitals, prisons, homes for the elderly, and others, that we might have focused on, however we do not find such studies on 'total institutions' (Goffman 1959) as fully relevant for the project, as these are meant to respond to, and provide for a much broader scope of everyday lives needs and concerns (see also section on "Housing for asylum seekers..."). The project examines what the physical environment – buildings, outdoor environments and localization – may do for the well-being of asylum seekers and their relationship with the local community. Thus, the project applies studies of neighbourhood and housing quality and environment, as it relates to individual asylum-seekers' sense of well-being and social integration in the local community. Furthermore, the project aims to guide actual actors and policy makers by means of discussion and recommendations for an acceptable housing quality at asylum seeker reception centres. Much research focuses on the built environment in general, but very little attends to asylum-seeker reception centres. Thus, our study is an opportunity to develop housing-research in general by the means of focusing on the case of asylum-seeker reception centres, while at the same time, and equally important, by addressing a political pressing issue of forced migration, inclusion and equality.

Considering the study's concern with asylum seekers who seek refuge from war, persecution and/or discrimination, a recognition of these populations and individuals' specific life conditions is needed. Some central features of relevance for such refugee populations' situation often includes a) not choosing nor knowing their destination, b) migration marked by

trauma and persecution, c) vulnerable mental and physical health, d) separation from family members whose safety may be at risk, e) arrival without identity document or with false documents, f) arrival without evidence of qualifications, g) arrival under the stress of deportation or detention, h) temporary admittance under the fear of return (Kissoon 2010). In particular, the forced transitional and temporary condition and experience need special attention. The transitional and temporary condition is crucial for the perception and reception from the receiving society, authorities and community, the decisions for placing and shaping of reception centres, as well as for the arriving families and individuals who are in different ages and phases of their life-cycle.

This report introduces the theoretical approach that has inspired and shaped the *What Buildings Do*-project. The authors have contributed with theoretical perspectives from their disciplinary expertise, that is, social anthropology, architecture, social geography and psychology. Generally, the text attempts at weaving the approaches together, while the section on Architecture and Housing Quality (as the title suggests) relies predominantly on architectural perspectives. We have deliberately chosen 'house' and 'housing' as a keyconcepts throughout the analytical process, so as to highlight physicality and materiality as an axis around which various strands of the project revolve. Generally, we understand both concepts to refer to the features of the buildings themselves, the residential surroundings, and how residents engage with and create meaning to the surroundings, more than housing politics or economic frames and premises.

In this way, we seek to identify basic theoretical frameworks, concepts and issues as they are employed in an interdisciplinary context, and make them central for the project. While some of the issues discussed are of general concern to housing and environment, we will focus on those issues of particular interest with regard to asylum- seeker reception centres. The possible approaches to this study are many, but this report will focus on the key concepts of 'housing', 'house', and 'home' as these relate to issues of 'well-being'. When discussing the interrelations between these concepts we see aspects of meaning, identity, social organisation, and agency as fruitful perspectives for the study. The report targets foremost actual scholars and students, and secondly relevant professional actors in the practice field of asylum-seekers as well as policy makers.

This report is structured into seven sections. First, we present a brief history of houses and dwellings in a European context. Second, we introduce relevant aspects of housing from a perspective of health and well-being. Third, we discuss how 'the house' communicates meaning, identity and represents a central feature in social organisation. Fourth, we consider

the links between house and home as it is experienced by dwellers, home-making processes, the normative implication of a house being homely or unhomely, and finally how we see housing of asylum-seekers as places of home. In various ways, all the above four sections point to the fifth section in which we elaborate how houses hold a degree of agency. We focus on how houses change, mediate, are unstable and sometimes unsettles the order of ongoing everyday social life, while also recognising the opposite, namely how houses stabilise social life and structure patterns of equality and in-equality, and inclusion and exclusion. Sixth, we discuss the architecture of houses in perspective of housing quality, essentialism and quality assessment. Lastly, we present a brief outline of the organising of asylum seeker reception centres in Norway. By way of concluding, we call for a need to highlight perspectives on asylum seeker reception centres that acknowledge shared human needs in and for housing.

Brief History of Houses in a European Context

This section aims to present a brief outline of historic development of houses in the intersections between changing social practices, meanings and structures, and architectural forms as they both stimulate and respond to such changes. To begin with, the concept of house is most likely rooted in European experiences of domestic society (Parkin 1997; Bouquet 1996). Contemporary alternatives for 'house' like dwelling, residence, and abode are related to the ancient notion of stopping or staying in a place or a habitual returning to a place (Birdwell-Pheasant and Lawrence-Zuniga 1999:6). Further, house comes from the Old English hus and related huden which means "to hide" connecting also 'hut', 'huddle' and 'hoard'. This conveys the fragile and exposed side of the dwellers. The Latin term *domus*, on the other hand, relates to "domesticate", "dominate", and "dominion" which carries a symbol of power, rule and ownership with rights and privileges that enable inhabitants to impose by their possession and transform by their habitation (Danto 1982:8; Rykwert 1991:52). Furthermore, in classical Latin the term familia referred to whatever and whoever was under the household head's authority (Herlihy 1985:2) as it includes persons as well as economic resources and their dwellings. In Europe, house and family sometimes overlap and are not separable. When it is referred to the "House of Windsor", it is not the architectural form, but the family line across generations, which is addressed. In this sense, 'house' implies permanence which transcends the human life-span, and has, as Lévy-Strauss points out, the ability to reunify and transcend contradictory forces in the larger society.¹

Thus, the construction and use of houses and dwellings are not just manifestations of cultural forms, but affect the domestic environment in which the actors' daily activities are both enabled and constrained by the physical character of the building and its contents. Houses are encoded with practical meanings that convey proper spaces for preparing food and eating, sleeping, storing possessions and such, though there is often a tension between meaning and practice. Much of what the families and household members experience as the physical structure of the dwelling is actually a collective result of the agency of others, often in the past and remote past. Acknowledging the exclusive role that the house plays as a fixed and limited resource fundamental for biological and social reproduction, it appears also as an agent for differentiation and hierarchization within societies (see also Birdwell-Pheasant and Lawrence-Zuniga 1999).

Birdwell-Pheasant and Lawrence-Zuniga (1999) refers to a study by archaeologist Matthew Johnson (1993) who documents changing house forms in rural England in the

fourteenth to sixteenth centuries, and argues that these were forerunners to eighteenth- and nineteenth-century changes in housing that expressed privacy and class differentiation. It is referred to how the fourteenth-century medieval open hall had a multifunctional central fireplace as representing a home with a storage and parlour on each side, which was used by the landowning family and their dependents and servants (Birdwell-Pheasant and Lawrence-Zuniga 1999:10). Their interactions were based on a shared understanding of what were proper relations of status and esteem. In the sixteenth century, the open hall was replaced with a closed house form where the entrance hall divided the house and the hearth. The hall's functions spatially parted the two classes and stimulated development of class consciousness that began to separate the landowning class from all others (Johnson 1993:107).

Birdwell-Pheasant and Lawrence-Zuniga point out how Johnson links the architectural expression of such an advancing class structure to larger economic and cultural changes, including physical division and boundaries as means of control, the rising emphasis on privacy and rational thinking which valued the designation of space according to use (1999:10). The architectural forms were not only expression of change they also promoted changes themselves by physically reorganising social groups and channelling their activities and interactions. In the seventeenth century the international and formal architecture of 'polite architecture' symbolised and reinforced the separation and domination of the landed class (Johnson 1993:140). The growing bourgeois classes in the nineteenth century popularised a technologically advanced version of the landed estate and urban mansion, as it influenced the physical structure of the house concepts of family and individual privacy and compartments for specific activities and individual space. Today, as Birdwell-Pheasant and Lawrence-Zuniga observe, there are multiple forms of housing as people appropriate or modify elements of the modern and older house (1999:11). However, a hegemonic influence from industrial production, mass marketing and advertising have begun to commodify housing, thus shifting the meaning of houses again.

Effects of Housing on Well-Being²

Research on housing is fragmented as it is subject to different disciplines involved in housing studies. Bridging concepts and perspectives from different disciplines have been difficult, as well as connecting traditional academic research with the professional field of architecture (Symes et al 1985). Though more important, each discipline tends to hold specific assumptions about the relations between people and environment. Architects have been criticised for taking a deterministic approach in which physical design can directly influence behaviour (e.g. Franck 1984; Steventon 1996; Doucet 2010), while social sciences deal with probabilities, not certainties. Also, there may be a conflict in defining the goals for the different kinds of knowledge that is to be generated. Researchers may define the problem so narrowly and context-specific that it is not generalizable for practical application. Although, the scientific search for general principles can be at the expense of specific applicability. Thus, what derives from a user or resident's perspective is not always easily integrated into professional practice (García-Mira et al. 2005).

Housing research has, for many years, focused on how housing quality and wellfunctioning neighbourhoods may influence and possibly improve an individual's health and everyday life (see Lawrence 1987, 2002; Halpern 1995). Within environmental psychology, a large body of research has accumulated on various aspects of residential meaning and satisfaction as well as on the requirements for a residence to become a home. Residential satisfaction is broadly speaking a function of 1) the resident's relation to the residence and 2) the resident's comparison between present and past residence, present and ideal residence and between perceived and preferred qualities (Canter 1983). Although distress is a normal response to inadequate housing, it may have serious consequences when residents are not able to improve their residence. Inadequate housing, for example overcrowding at home, may be related to psychological distress and psychiatric illness, long-term negative effects on children's development, and disruption of parent-child relations (cf., Taylor et al. 1997; Evans et al. 1998; Evans et al. 2003). Also, features of the physical environment affecting privacy regulation (Altman 1975; Archea 1977; Margulis 2003), the experience of overcrowding in shared physical space within the household (Evans & Saegert 2000), and person-environment compatibility (see for example Kaplan 1995) both indoors and outdoors, have all been found to be important in affecting the well-being of residents.

While well-being is an increasingly utilised concept, it has no clear-cut definition.

According to WHO (World Health Organisation) well-being is closely related to mental health: "Mental health is defined as a state of well-being in which every individual realizes his

or her own potential, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully, and is able to make a contribution to her or his community" (WHO 2014). There have been many attempts to operationalise well-being. Considering research on housing qualities Ryff's (1989) operationalization seems fruitful as she relates it to theories of positive psychological functioning along 6 dimensions: 1) self acceptance, 2) positive relation to other people, 3) autonomy, 4) managing of the environment, 5) life-meaning, 6) personal growth. Of these dimensions the four first appear as the most relevant ones in assessing housing quality, as these have direct relation to the well-being of persons such as asylum seekers (see Hauge et al. 2015). While Ryff's operationalization represents a theoretical approach to well-being, we stress that an experience-near approach may include a variety of concerns and values related to the specific actual social and cultural context in which people live their everyday lives.

Houses and homes cannot be assessed simply in their own terms. They are always linked and related to the surroundings. The context in which houses are situated are important not only for how they are seen architecturally, but also the location and setting can have effect on the experience of life quality (Potter et al. 2005). Urban planning and housing design can be carried out with a perspective on how to include groups of people that are excluded from society. Experience of security and well-being can be effected by spatially and social characteristics of the area. Migration movements and settlement of asylum seekers can significantly affect the perception of residential areas. Also, the perception of place can be differently perceived by newcomers and long-time residents. This may be especially relevant for small communities where resources are often scarce, and the absorption of new populations can often be problematic. Especially the negative effects of living in overcrowded housing, has been a topic for research. The effects of overcrowded housing is hard to separate from poverty, but many of the studied aspects have moderate negative effects of its own. Living in overcrowded residences, particularly without social support, is psychologically risky (Evans et al. 1989).

Considering the to-days increasing number of children growing up in asylum-seeker reception centers we draw special attention to research on links between housing, crowdedness and child development. Cognitive development is slower for children living in residences densely populated and noisy (Heft, 1985). Children from overcrowded homes may be forced outdoor more often, leading more of them into trouble on the street and in school. Furguson et al (2013) points out that infants in crowded households tend to be more lethargic

and drowsy and are associated with delayed psychomotoric development suggested to result from disruption of children's exploration, play and engagement with both objects and people in the immediate environments (see also Widmayer et al. 1990; Heft 1979; Liddell and Kruger 1987, 1989). Equally important, residential crowding disrupt parent-child interactions (Evans 2006; Wachs and Corapci 2003) as parents tend to talk less with their infants and toddlers, and use less complex vocabulary and sentence structures with their baby children (Furguson et al. 2103).

Some of the adverse effects of household crowding are furthermore mediated by increased level of family conflicts (Evans et al. 1998) and inadequate space to do homework (Hassan 1977). Several studies show that crowded children tend to be more socially withdrawn and that parents in crowded homes are commonly less responsive to their children (Evans 2006; Furguson et al. 2103). A study by Evans et al. (1998) show that residential density, mediated by family conflicts, related to learned helplessness among girls, while resting blood pressure elevated among boys. These finding matches a number of studies that indicated elevated physiological stress among children living in more crowded homes (Evans 2006), and also children living in substandard and poor quality housing (Evans 2006; Evans et al. 2003). It is worth noting that delays in cognitive development associated with residential density weaken if children have access to a room where they can spend time alone (Wachs and Gruen 1982). A study on orphanages found that space and furnishings (e.g. room arrangement, displays for children) predicted children's cognitive outcomes (Furgeson 2008), while also the infants' access to learning materials predicted infant's language and socioemotional development. There is further some evidence that children's self-esteem is negatively impacted by residence in informal settlements (Kruger 2002).

Low income and poor health indicate that a person cannot afford the best housing facilities, and it is difficult to decide the causal relations between low income and poor health. Poor indoor climate, density and pollution have direct consequences on health, but the same factors may affect the attractiveness and prize of the housing, and decide who can afford to live there. It is difficult to know the causal relationships when people living in the houses had poor health also before they moved in (Grønningsæter and Nielsen 2011). Studies show that poor neighborhood conditions predict health outcomes better than poor dwelling conditions (Macintyre et al. 2000) and further that rehousing tenants from an unpopular estate to a better estate, led to increased sense of well-being and reduction in demand for medical services (Woodin et al. 1996).

Housing can be seen to mainly influence people's well-being in two different ways: 1) Through how physical environments facilitate different types of behaviour, daily functioning, and social interaction. The connections between behaviour and environment are dependent on situation and contextual variables. 2) Through the associations that physical environments and neighbourhoods give. These associations are created through social interaction and influenced by context, process and situation (Hauge, 2009). Housing quality differs over time as expectations change. These expectations may be culturally specific, or may vary by class, gender and lifestyle. Some aspects of housing quality are possible to quantify, others are not. Housing quality has aesthetic and symbolic implications that are impossible to quantify, but never the less are of great importance for security, control, and a feeling of being at home. Hauge and Støa's (2009) study of how a group of former criminals and drug abusers were influenced by housing quality is an example of research on housing as a strategy to improve life and future hopes for a vulnerable group of residents. The study shows how former homeless people interpret different architectural details as symbols of how normal people live, their self-worth and possibilities to get their lives on track.

Housing influences our view of ourselves and our well-being through associations to exteriors, interiors, and neighborhoods, and through how the environment facilitates behavior and social interaction (Hauge and Støa 2009). None of these mechanisms are deterministic; they all depend on context and situation. As mentioned, the view that the physical environment - dimensions, colors, and shapes - have a direct effects on behavior (Franck 1984) is no longer valid. Today, most academics as well as practitioner regard the people-environment relationship as dynamic and interactive (Gifford 2002). A dynamic and interactive perspective on the environment includes the social, cultural and psychological meanings of a place.

Most studies of the effect of housing on mental health and well-being are conducted within a context of post-industrial and modern societies, which commonly involve a set of similar characteristics of housing. Acknowledging that such features are not always dominant and often less familiar in the areas many of the asylum seekers come from, linkages between housing and well-being become even more complex. Even so, the Norwegian asylum reception centres are in themselves of varying standards and have originally been built and set up for various other reasons than reception centres. It is only in a very few cases that the initial purpose has been of housing asylum seekers.

Housing: Meaning, Identity and Social Organisation

As it appears in the above section focusing on housing's effect on well-being, central features of its effects relate to aspects of housing such as its attributed and perceived meaning, its significance for identity and its place in the larger social organization. Like the discussion below demonstrates, these aspects overlap and appear often more as analytical distinctions than they are actually experienced by the residents and environing populations.

Meaning

Buildings are physical structures laden with meaning. The building, both in itself and through location, liberates associations and memories. "The house derives meaning from its setting as well as its own characteristics. Feelings about the house will be influenced by the perceived physical and social environment outside the front door" (Clapham 2005: 155). A neighbourhood may increasingly differentiate among people, and may be important to the lifestyle and identity of those who live in them. Gram-Hanssen and Beck-Danielsen (2004) have shown how people associate specific residential neighbourhoods with different symbolic values. Individuals belonging to different social worlds are found to live in different homes in terms of the neighbourhood's physical and social characteristics, dwelling-type, decorations and landscaping styles (Duncan 1985). Research has shown that people draw obvious conclusions about the wealth and social class of residents according to where they live (Lindstrom 1997; Gifford 2002; SAMT: http://www.citylab.com/work/2015/07/the-poor-areless-happy-in-places-with-more-income-inequality/400001/). Not only location, but also building exterior, release specific associations. Building materials give people associations about the personality of the residents; residents were described as warm, cold, creative or nonartistic related to different building materials and styles (Sadalla and Sheets 1993).

Photos of houses in different architectural styles are associated with different levels of friendliness among the residents. Certain housing styles were associated with friendlier people than others. Farm- and Tudor-style houses were assumed as having the friendliest residents, while Tudor- and colonial-style houses were seen as having the highest status residents (Nasar 1988). In addition, identical buildings assigned different labels will elicit different opinions; an apartment said to be public housing provokes less favourable reactions than the same apartment said to be a private condominium (Nasar and Julian 1985). Interior styles are also associated with different social attributes, and the respondents' judgements are surprisingly similar (Wilson and Mackenzie 2000).

The examples above also illustrate that research on the communicative aspect of the built environment and housing is analysed according to very different concepts. The physical environment is seen as having communicative meaning related to social attributes, personality or social status. Robinson (2006) writes about architecture as a "cultural medium" and the way buildings may activate different mental schemas people use to understand the world. The associations the built environment release may be seen according to what social psychology calls "schema" or "schemata", mental structures representing different aspects of the world, such as situations, people, or groups of people (Lee 2003; Myers 2002). These schemas have to be learnt within a cultural context. People use schemas to organize knowledge about different aspects of life, and their schemas provide frameworks for future understanding. This approach represents both a necessary human simplification of information processing, and a potential risk for misunderstandings and prejudices.

During the last decades especially, a broader understanding of the meaning of housing and home has arisen, with increased emphasis on qualitative research and the close interwoven meaning of physical environments and social processes (Clapham 2005). Lee (2003: 33) states that, "...the built environment is more or less isomorphic with the social system that is developed within it. Also because no human environment of any consequence can be perceived as a physical object in isolation from its social implications and behavioural activity patterns." The way housing creates associations may be referred to as "symbol aesthetics" or "aesthetics" (Cold 20011988). Nasar (1988) divides aesthetics into "formal aesthetics" and "symbol aesthetics", where the first category refers to aspects of shape, proportions, colours, and scale. "Symbol aesthetics" refers to the meaning individuals associate with the physical environment. "Aesthetics" is also a concept used in different ways in different disciplines, and would require a thorough examination. To distinguish between aesthetics and symbols may also be challenging.

One of the core symbolic messages of houses is the distinction between public and private space. As Wilson notes; domestic walls entail "possibilities for concealment" as well as "opportunities for display (1988:5). This relates to how all physically surrounded domestic spaces are private as they allow household members to control access to themselves, as they conceal or hide behaviour from others or manage knowledge others have about them. Public places, on the other hand, are those that are located beyond the boundaries of home and where residents have little or no control (see Birdwell-Pheasant and Lawrence-Zuniga 1999:4).

The understanding that concepts and symbols are embedded within houses and that these reflect back to the human bodies by their engagement with the buildings remain

significant and powerful. This line of thought has inspired for instance 'vernacular architecture', which attends to the power of built forms to carry meaning and evoke sentiments (Rapoport 1982; see also Asquith and Vellinga 2006). Through houses' ability to indicate suitable behaviours and to accommodate them, one can see how house forms and their inhabitants constitute each other. To fully capture the meaning of houses it is furthermore needed an approach that acknowledges the total historical, cultural and social context of which they are part.

Identity

We communicate identity in many ways, by how we behave and speak, and through interests and activities, as well as through the physical environment. Residents are often judged based on visible clues that are interpreted as signs of identity by outsiders (Gullestad 2002). The associations buildings create do not only tell us who other people are, but also who we are. "The spatial world in which we live tells us who we are. We find our self within it, we respond to it and it reacts to us. By manipulating it we affirm our identity" (Robinson 2006: 23).

We communicate identity both on a conscious and subconscious level. The conscious and active way identity is communicated can be referred to as "self-presentation". We want to present a desired image both to an external audience (others) and an internal audience (ourselves) (Myers 2002). We may then express ourselves and behave in ways designed to create a favorable impression that corresponds to one's ideals. Some of us are more conscious about self-presentation than others, and there are situations where we are more self-conscious than other situations. Self-presentation can be seen from a dramaturgical perspective, where the environment is a collection of stage sets and props for social performance. We select and manipulate symbols in their environment in an attempt to influence an external audience. The communicative perspective on housing can be seen according to symbolic interactionism. Our belongings and environments carry meanings that are interpreted during social interaction (Blumer 1962; Goffman 1959; Hauge and Kolstad 2007).

The surroundings and possessions we have may say something about us, even within restricted choices of objects or surroundings. This means that identity communication is a process we are able to control to different degrees; it is impossible to stop others from interpreting information through physical clues. Within Norwegian and European cultural contexts a detached dwelling commonly contains more visible signs of lifestyle and identity than an apartment in a block where the residents have no influence on the exterior of the

building. Still, we tend to interpret residents' life stages, family situations and social status from the fact that they live in apartments and not in detached dwellings, and through the choice, or limited choice, of neighbourhood (Blunt and Dowling 2006).

Social Organisation

The association between houses and models of social organisation is strongly highlighted in Claude Lévi-Strauss' classification of 'house-based-societies' ('sociétiés à maison') in which rights and honours where transmitted via men and women, while also protecting domains of their own wealth and privileges. Here, 'house' referred less to physical construction and more to a concept of the noble 'house' of medieval Europe. Such metaphoric employment of the house is further extended with Pierre Bourdieu's study of the Kabyle in Algeria. Bourdieu found that the local architecture reflected not only the social order, but also the entire Kabyle cosmos including oppositions between male/female, day/night, fire/water etc. (1979 [1970]). Seeing the houses as constructed in accordance to such oppositions, these constructions were seen to mirror back on to the bodies of the inhabitants, and thus shape practice. Consequently, men and women perceived the houses differently and carried out different activities within them, while both genders engaged with the houses differently during day and night, summer and winter etc. In his later work of Distinction (1984) he elaborated on the links between the homely arena and embodied practices of 'habitus', class and taste (see Daniels 2010:201, n. 6). Bourdieu's thoughts also inspired studies of how people create and re-create their home interiors as a way of self-expression as a mean by which to construct themselves and their ideologies (Miller 2001, see also Pink 2004).

Considering that different kinds of houses or constructions of dwelling have been common to all human groups, at least since the domestication of fire, about 400.000 years ago (Birdwell-Pheasant and Lawrence-Zuniga 1999), it is not, as Vokes (2013) observes, so surprising that the house has been *one* of the central organising metaphors in modern anthropology. Already Louis Henry Morgan's (1981 [1881]) study of the American Aborigines was one of the first anthropological works that addressed the role of the house in local social organization. He identified particular house-like qualities, which gave them, and in an evolutionary sense all human societies, a basic unit of social organisation, which included some form of communalism and union. Also later in Marcel Mauss and Henry Beuchat's study of the Innuits (1979 [1906]) social organisation was seen to be characterised by a certain collectivistic ethos with reference to images of domestic architecture.

From another vein, Arnold Van Gennep (1960 [1909]) introduced in his study of *rites de passage* metaphors of the house as he wrote "a society is similar to a house divided into rooms and corridors. The more the society resembles ours in its form of civilisation, the more open are its doors of communication. In a semi-civilised society, on the other hand, sections are carefully isolated, and passage from one to another must be made through formalities and ceremonies (1960 [1909]:26). Bronislaw Malinowski (1963 [1913]) defined family as a specified group of kin that occupy "a definite physical space, a hearth and home" (see Collier, Rosaldo and Yanagisako 1987, cited in Birdwell-Pheasant and Lawrence-Zuniga 1999:2). Paying less attention to the physical house and more to relations of intimacy in the 'home' (see next section for more on 'home'), Bronislaw Malinowski suggested that the Australian aboriginals' family had to be understood with reference to 'social aspects of kinship' as it included the "treatment, behaviours, feeding and so forth, which characterise the intimate, or home aspect of the kinship relation" (1963 [1913]:203).³

How we organise space, and place people in distinct places, expresses certain forms of power (Foucault 2000). Foucault (1974) argues how something that is institutionalised and constructed for one purpose, can be turned and altered into another meaning and effect. While spaces can create distinctions and define "others" from us, the process of 'otherising' can also deal with a fear of sameness rather than otherness (Hage 2002). Thus, to legitimise how asylum seekers, drug abusers etc can be offered severely restricted and poor living- and housing conditions "we need to convince ourselves that people who we are doing nasty things too, are not human" (Hage 2002:4). Such processes of otherising are not only mental processes, but as much spatial processes. Taking a perspective in which an actual neighbourhood, institution or asylum centre is recognised as offering a type of "zone in between" – not fully inside nor outside – they can be seen as 'non-places' (Augè 1995) or 'empty spaces' (Agamben 1998).

These approaches to studies of the house have in common that they tend to look for features that unify the social and thus invoke the house as a kind of aggregator of human organisation, practice and experience. Further, they see the house as a sign or symbol of human practice, thus leaving the house as a setting in which the activities take place and are projected on to. Together the above approaches place agency mostly with the humans alone, while houses are signs, or products of human social life. In a later section, we will discuss how also the houses themselves can be seen to carry agency (see House and Agency).

House and Home

The concept 'house' is often set up together or interchanged with 'home'. The two terms refer to different cultural constructions (Rykwert 1991:52). 'House' implies a physical structure or shelter, while 'home' refers to a place of origin and retreat, such as one's natal birthplace, one's country or other native place. Home is a concept of place rather than space, which implies emotional attachment and meaning beyond the physical or any particular house. 'Home' rather takes on the meaning of a territory, a physical reference point, a symbol of self, or of family identity (Hayward 1975). The idea of attachment and roots is pointed out when Hobsbawm says home is "not the destiny of our journeys but the place from which we set out and to which we return, at least in spirit' (1991:65).

Not until the sixteenth century did "home" refer to one's own domestic dwelling (Gifford 2002). "Home" is a powerful word connected to symbolic meanings that may touch people deeply (Paadam 2003). Home is where people are settled psychologically, socially, culturally and physically (Benjamin, Stea and Saile 1995). The relationship between home and housing, therefore, cannot be taken for granted. A lack of a sense of home may be related to temporariness in accommodation, dissatisfaction with the physical design, or psychological tension among family members. A wide variety of social and economic relations are important in achieving a sense of home (Paadam 2003).

There are many ways of structuring the different meanings of home. Després (1991) summarizes the research on the "meaning of home", and describes the following ten needs, which have been described by informants in many research studies: Home as security and control, home as reflection of one's ideas and values, home as acting upon and modifying one's dwelling, home as permanence and continuity, home as relationships with family and friends, home as a centre for activities, home as refuge from the outside world, home as indicator of personal status, home as material structure, and home as a place to own (see also Sommerville 1997; Mallet 2004).

Rapoport (1985) argues that a home reflects identity due to the fact that house and interior are chosen. If they had not been chosen, they are not "home". An imposed setting is unlikely to be "home". Many people are too poor to buy or choose their physical environment; however, they may still experience having a home. Homeownership may offer better opportunities for self-presentation through housing, but Paadam (2003) argues that strong home identities are not restricted to owners. If you own your dwelling, you have the greatest freedom to choose your closest surroundings, and this may be one of the explanations as to why people in general prefer to own their dwelling (Agnew, 1981). In most western

cultures, a freestanding single house serves the function of reflecting identity best, and may therefore be related to the strong preference people in many western countries have for this type of house (Cooper, 1974, see Saeggert, 1985). This is, however, dependent on social, geographical and historical context; in continental Europe, "home" is predominantly associated with apartments (Blunt & Dowling, 2006).

Blunt & Dowling (2006: 2) explain "home" as a multi-layered geographical concept, and define it as "a place/site, a set of feelings/cultural meanings, and the relationship between the two". Home is a place and an imaginary space – that has varying ideas and feelings connected to it, both positive and negative. In other words, a house may be experienced as home to different degrees. A "home" does not simply exist, but is made. "Home is a process of creating and understanding forms of dwelling and belonging" (Blunt & Dowling, 2006: 23). Home also varies in importance according to socio-demographic characteristics as well as lifestyles related to socio-economic status and activities on other arenas (Ås, 1996, see Paadam, 2003).

Home is clearly a crucial aspect of housing and space and can be seen to represent the essence of the housing experience. Home can express the personality, culture and lifestyle of the homeowners. The importance of home cannot be overestimated as it is one of the fundamental sources of retreat, relaxation and social interaction in our leisure time (Ozsoy and Pulat 2005, Ozaki 2005). Furthermore, houses and homes can be seen to regulate people's social openness/closedness, and their management of the boundary between the self and the other. In this perspective home makes a territorial space that comprise different functional units such as public, family and private space (Märtsin and Niit 2005).

Young (2005) maintains that there is an enormous critical political potential in the concept of home. While indeed having a home signals a privilege in today's world, she suggests that an analysis of values for home and a commitment to the democratic distribution of such values for all represent a critical political potential. She states that there are at least four normative values for home that should be thought of as minimally accessible to all people. These stand as regulative ideals by which societies should be scrutinized. These values are safety, individuation, privacy and preservation. Safety is important because everyone needs a place where they can be safe, and ideally, home is meant to be such a place. Individuation concerns the performance of basic activities. To have some space where you can organize your life and perform activities with basic routine and security. Privacy concerns the autonomy a person has to control access to personal information and belongings. Last,

preservation entails the right to protect and safeguard the meaningful things, which one sees as the stories of oneself embodied.

Home has the power to constitute identities, as people live and produce their senses of themselves through homes. At the same time, these identities are structured and shaped by different powers. Blunt and Dowling (2006) suggest that Doreen Massey's concept "power geometries" sheds light on the ways that people are differently positioned to home places, and how they also experience them differently. The power geometries of homes work in such a way that a dominant ideology values certain social relations and marginalizes others. This way it defines some places as homes, while others are not. Some dominant meanings of home may include family, patriarchal gender relations, sense of security and stability, and owned dwellings.

Making Home⁴

Jansen and Löfving (2009) start with elucidating the concept of emplacement when exploring home-making. This is a term usually deployed in opposition to displacement, but can be defined in different ways. Emplacement can be the way people invest places with significance, or how people re-embed social relations that have been "disembedded". In describing emplacement, Jansen and Löfving (2009) put emphasis to the subjects' capacities to put themselves and others into place, and how this is articulated with the power relations that structure these capacities. Giving attention to the power to emplace is therefore important. This is a focus that can act as a countermeasure to the postmodern conceptions of "placelessness", as well as the notion that any place is good, as long as it is one's own, and that people are always "happily emplaced" unless there are obvious signs of the contrary. Nevertheless, homes are made and remade in everyday life by strategies of cultural continuity. In this way people seek to overcome alienation as well as social disintegration (Jansen and Löfving 2009). Ahmed et al. (2003) suggest that "homing" depends on the reclaiming of the names, stories and objects that are uprooted by migration or displacement. In the context of migration, "homing" can therefore be understood as a way of reattaching to new surroundings, to new homes. This may be a way of making sense of the new conditions under which they live. The concept of "regroundings" is useful in this sense, used to describe the strategies people use to attach themselves to new places (Ahmed et al. 2003).

Home may also be a physical site for identification. People may define and develop their identities in relation to the physical structures of their dwelling, as much as the dwelling can also affect people's identities. Hence, the practices of home may also be practices of identity formation. A home displays the things people surround themselves with, that support their life activities and can reflect in matter the events and values of a person's life. As such, homes may be understood as personal in a visible, spatial sense (Young 2005). Home may then be seen as an important site of identification and therefore also a materialisation of identity.

The materialisation of identity in a home concerns not just the things themselves but also their spatial organisation. Things are arranged in space in a way that supports body habits and routines of those who dwell there. Coming to feel settled at home in a place takes place in the process of interaction between the body's movement in enacting aims and purposes and the material structure these activities occur within (Young 2005). Physical structures of homes and the things within them are imprinted by people's lived lives, and in this manner the home becomes a mirror of everyday activities.

Another important aspect to the materiality of home is the modification of physical structures, which can be understood as yet a way of imbuing things with meaning. As people come to inhabit dwellings, they adjust their living spaces through various alterations and decorations. As Miller (1998) states, self-built housing is a minority possibility and most households are likely to receive their ready-built environments. If people are to develop a self-conception in relation to their dwelling then, it must happen through some form of consumption as appropriation. Following Miller (1998) a theory on housing therefore needs to involve a theory of consumption. In relation to the appropriation of the physical structures of dwellings consumption must be understood as a process of transformation. Consumption can be seen as an ideal in the sense that it is a process by which social groups are engaged in activities that attempt to render alienating structures of ready-built environments into inalienable culture. It may therefore be interesting to study how people have adapted and modified their living spaces in reception centres.

Through making adjustments and modifications people imbue their dwellings with meaning that turn them into personal spaces. In accordance with this idea, Young (2005) suggests that home may be seen as a material sense of agency. Through the active creation of home people have the possibility to construct personal spaces of belonging and identity. However, there may well be another side to the coin as is pointed out by Miller (2001). As the residents in a dwelling may not be the ones who created the material structures in the first place, there may also be cases where the residents have very few possibilities to alter or modify their dwellings in any way. With reference to a study of a Council Estate in London in 1988, Miller (2001) describes how some people came to feel "haunted" by their homes due to

the lack of ability to make modifications in their own dwellings. Material structures thus also have a constraining effect on the residents in a way where they appear to have their own agency. This paves the way for a debate on the relation between structure and agency and which factors that can enable and constrain processes of home-making and dwelling.

The construction of homes through consumption and modification is never straightforward but involves contradictions. People build their homes in a recurring negotiation between what they have and what they want or wish for. As stated by Mallet (2004: 80) "Home is lived in the tension between the given and the chosen, then and now, here and there."

Homely or Unhomely

Normative notions of home, or power geometries as mentioned above, create certain homes as "homely" and others as "unhomely" (Blunt and Dowling 2006). For instance, people living in suburban homes are in many ways expected to be heterosexual and part of nuclear families. This is an experience of home commonly valued as "homely." On the contrary, living in refugee camps or in a reception centre for asylum seekers is depicted as "unhomely". Blunt and Dowling (2006) underline that it is important to keep in mind that seemingly "homely" places may be "unhomely", and vice versa that places appearing at first glance as "unhomely" may be turned into "homely" places. Ahmed et al. (2003) suggest further that the concept of "homing" is valuable for understanding the process by which home is created. "Homing" entails processes of home-building, whether this happens "at home" or in migration. This consists of the making of affective qualities of home, in close relation to the concrete materiality of objects and other physical components.

Rapport and Dawson (1998) see the normative aspects of home as a paradox of a concept that for most of the time remains very open and fluid. They suggest that individual homes, using the German term "heim", are influenced by a normative "heimat", an effort to impose home as a social fact and a cultural norm. It becomes a norm to which certain people in certain forms of dwelling can belong, while others must be excluded. Refugees and the homeless are people who therefore must be excluded from those who "deserve" to combine house and home. Normative aspects of home become visible as an expression of social division. As a continuation of this, Rapport and Dawson (1998) point to another paradox of the concept, that homes are understood in terms of a negation. The apparent absence of home moves us, and home becomes important in terms of what it is not. In this sense we can say

that the concepts of "homely" and "unhomely" homes inform each other. But who has the power to render some homes homely and others unhomely?

As already mentioned home may be understood as a basis for creating and sustaining individual and shared identities. However, as Olwig (1998) states, homes are far from merely harmonic places. Home is rather a contested domain, that is, an arena where differing interests are struggling to define their own spaces where identities can be located and nurtured. Identities have to be struggled for, as do homes. Also, there can be many homes within the same physical location, and different persons may interpret the same homes in different ways. It is for this reason that we should not expect people's homes necessarily to be their ideal sites of identification (Olwig 1998). Neither should we expect homes to be "happy places". People may identify themselves both with and against their homes.

Housing for Asylum Seekers: Places of Home?

Berg (2012) discusses how the housing facilities described as asylum-seeker reception centres can be understood. It appears that the centres cannot be fully understood as a 'dormitory' (*hybelhus*) understood as a kind of temporary accommodation in which the residents deal with their everyday life on own terms, in need only of a place to live. On the other hand, the accommodation cannot be seen as a 'total institution' in which all aspects of life are conducted in the same place and under the same single authority, and each residents' daily activities are carried out together with the other residents who are all treated alike (Goffman 1961:17). The asylum-seeker reception centre differs from both dormitory and total institution, in that the employees in the total institution are concerned with the residents' total life situation including social life and health issues, while at the dormitory the employees are basically concerned with the accommodation only. Generally, the reception centres can be seen to belong somewhere in between the two poles of a dormitory and a total institution, in varying degrees to be closer to the one or the other (Berg 2012).

More so, the reception centres may resonate little with what we conceive as homes, since reception centres are not meant to become the permanent homes of its residents. However we suggest that the concept is useful as it involves discussions of very basic processes of dwelling and making a place for one self to live, however temporary this place may be. Even in temporary dwellings people engage with homemaking practices where they seek to bind together the material, emotional, social and the imaginative. For example, in Sri Lanka after the tsunami in 2004, people provided with temporary shelter started making adjustments and modifications to the shelters within months, adding structures to provide

kitchens and generally making the shelters more bearable to live in (Brun 2012). Even in temporary dwellings people engage with various symbolic acts such as receiving guests, which is important for demarcating the boundaries between the private and the public and as such an important act for defining one's home (Brun 2012). However, temporary dwellings are often of a low standard and people can be heavily constrained in their efforts to engage with homemaking practices within these structures. The symbolic and material are bound together through home-making practices even in temporary dwellings.

Increased mobility – virtually as well as in physical terms – may influence conceptions and practices related to home and place, and lead to the adoption of new strategies; making it possible for an individual to feel at home in a changeable world. Winter (2009), for example, has investigated how people living 'on the move' practise their mobility. She finds that her informants develop what she calls 'homing tactics' which include establishing various routines, using technological devices such as Skype and cell phones, or simply placing 'stuff' in temporary home arenas in order to territorialise changing locations.

A study on a Dutch reception centre argues how home is a relevant concept as the residents evaluated their current living situation in relation to ideas of home (Horst 2004). The asylum-seeker informants identified what they lacked and missed in terms of meanings of home. Two of the factors considered most important were the lack of autonomy and the possibility to uphold certain cultural traditions. The lack of autonomy emerged as a main "unhomely" feature of the reception centre. Guests had to leave at certain times in the evening, there were house rules prohibiting loud music in the evenings, and the cleaning duties were controlled by the staff. Generally, what was conceived as" child-like treatment" and the control exercised by the employees of the institution was seen as "unhomely". The difficulties with upholding certain cultural traditions appeared as another "unhomely" factor. This concerned both the lack of separate rooms for men and women and difficulties in maintaining traditions such as receiving guests, and secure appropriate relations between family members. Ideas about the relations between family and home were disturbed due to the lack of space in the reception centre. Being in control of both what and when to eat was central for the asylum-seekers' sense of well-being. Together, the study highlights how asylum-seekers struggle with negotiations of what is homely and unhomely, as well as possibilities for engaging in homemaking practices.

From the above we suggest that the concept of home offers a perspective that makes explicit how both material, emotional, social and imaginative dimensions are important in housing. More so, we suggest that it is fruitful to explore processes of making home also in

temporary situations. This view relates to a recognition of the importance of social and emotional process included in housing when making choices regarding the provision of temporary housing. Recognizing how houses, place and space express forms of power (Foucault 2000) and can define 'others' from 'us', we propose that studies of accommodation for vulnerable groups, such as asylum-seeker reception centres, make an interesting case to examine when considering the aim of securing social integration, well-being, mental health and justice for any nation-state or community's inhabitants.

Houses as Agentive Mediators

From the above perspectives, it appears how houses and their inhabitants constitute each other, thus raising a question of agency. While houses, homes, families, and households are constructed by individuals, their personal agency is often compromised, though not fully cancelled. It has been argued that such units are a "knot of individual interests" (Laslett and Wall 1972), though an exclusive focus on individuals' agency reduces the ability to address the power of houses to organise and restrain the lives of the individual agents.

The physical dimensions of family and individuals' life appear in the work of several scholars. The notion of 'structuration' (Giddens 1984) and 'habitus' (Bourdieu 1976) both appreciate material and spatial dimensions of social action and how it links to actors conceptual frameworks. The materiality of domestic life is crucial in forming the family and individual biologically, socially, economically and morally (see Birdwell-Pheasant and Lawrence-Zuniga 1999:8). Taking it a step further, Alfred Gell states: "Agency is attributable to those persons (and things...) who/which are seen as initiating causal sequences of a particular type, that is, events caused by acts of mind or will or intention, rather than the mere concatenation of physical events (1998:16). This definition extends agency to works of art and other artefacts, including houses (1998:252). Gell see houses to have special characteristic with a capacity to disassemble and reassemble, to remodel and redecorate, and to objectify the historical process (1998:252). The acts involved in building and remodelling houses, in forming its inhabitants, in daily living in the house, and selectively using the house to include or exclude family members and inhabitants, manifest agency. By such acts, individuals take part in routines or make conscious plans, while also making use of strategies that are consistent with collective interests of the group of which they are members. Even though agency requires intention, the actors do not need to be aware of the strategies of reproduction they implement.

Bourdieu describes the house as 'the principle locus for the objectification of generative schemes' (1977:89). Generally, one can say that moving around in an ordered space, the body 'reads' the house which serves as a prompt and reminder for the embodied person. It is through inhabiting and habituated dwelling that each person shapes a practical mastery of the fundamental patterns of the actual culture they have arrived in. While people construct houses and make them in their own image, they also use these houses and house-images to construct themselves as individuals and groups (see also Carsten and Hugh-Jones 1995). Furthermore, the space that surrounds the house is also an extension of the personal space of its occupants. However, in the article "What buildings do," Thomas Gieryn criticizes

Bourdieu for not taking human agency sufficiently into account, both in terms of designing and defining buildings (Gieryn 2002:39). Thus, Gieryn supports an understanding of a building as "the object of human agency and as an agent of its own actors" and also "simultaneously shaped and shaping." (ibid: 41)

Appreciating how houses can be seen to be an extension of the person and self, we draw attention to how houses and their surroundings affect well-being as these are deeply interwoven with experiences of identity, personhood and self. By this perspective, houses are seen not only as places or "cases" of symbolism, but more as subjects in their own right (see also Humphry 1988). This refers to how materiality, such as buildings and houses, can be seen to take on a certain agency in reinforcing and shaping social relations, senses of self and well-being.

Quite recently, in the 2000s, anthropologists have argued that houses do not always unify and aggregate, but also unsettle and disturb (Gavey 2001; Marcoux 2001; Petridou 2001). When recognising the unstable relation in which houses could become something "to live up to" and "give time to" (Clarke 2001), it also appears how houses are perceived as holding a degree of agency (Miller 2001, Latour 1988). The theoretical basis for understanding the dynamic and mutual relationship between humans and material objects has developed during recent decades within fields such as science and technology studies and in actor network theory (Yavena and Guy, 2008).

Agency reflects an approach to architecture as not only autonomous products and objects, but also continuously changing entities entangled in and dependent on social, cultural, economic, and political contexts (Till, 2009; Latour and Yavena, 2009). Within this understanding, architecture has the ability to make changes and even "lead to other possible futures." (Doucet and Cupers 2009: 1). According to Schneider and Till, agency implies conscious action: "having the possibility to act with intent and purpose." (Schneider and Till 2009)⁵. When dealing with architecture and built environments, it is self-evident that architects have the power to act upon the design of a building (even though they rarely do this without the participation of other actors, such as owners, developers, and consultants). In this respect, what is even more interesting is how buildings in a network with human actors have a "capacity for agency" towards environmental, social, and other goals (ARQ, 2009). That material artifacts and the designers of them may play specific roles in social transformation processes is acknowledged not only within the professions of architecture and design, but also within the field of science and technology studies, as we have seen (e.g., from the quotation

from Gieryn above). It is even more clearly articulated by British and Canadian social scientists Shove et al. in their book *The Design of Everyday Life* (Shove et al. 2007: 134):

[D]esigners have an indirect but potentially decisive hand in the constitution of what people do. If material artefacts configure (rather than simply meet) what consumers and users experience as needs and desires, those who give them shape and form are perhaps uniquely implicated in the transformation and persistence of social practice.

When discussing agency related to design of urban neighborhoods more particularly, 'residential practices' has turned out to be a useful concept. Reckwitz defines a practice as: "a routinized way in which bodies are moved, objects are handled, subjects are treated, things are described and the world is understood." (Reckwitz 2002: 250) Based on this definition, residential practice is understood as a dynamic sociotechnical network in which material structures (technology, buildings, and physical environment), socioeconomic conditions and practices, and ideas, meanings, and values interrelate and mutually affect each other. Within this framework, architectural design can be seen as both a result of social, economic, cultural, and political contexts and as a tool for changing these contexts. Agency in architecture, understood within this framework, thus constitutes a basis for analyzing and discussing specific architectural and urban design proposals as well as the role of architects and designers in the shaping of future societies.

Architecture and Housing Qualities

Housing quality can be understood as the characteristics related to housing which are given value (Guttu 2003). Such values will vary according to the residents' life-phase and preferences. Furthermore, housing quality is related to aspects of the buildings, but also the local surroundings. More specifically, housing qualities can be assessed according to the residents' needs in terms of physiological (temperature, air and light), practical (adjustment to daily activities), social (being with family and friends, as well as opportunity for privacy), and psychological (security, esthetics, identity and autonomy) needs (Støa et al. 2006).

Housing Quality – Normative Approaches

Housing research within the architectural profession has tended to be rather normative, in the sense that is has aimed at providing practical guidelines for designers but also 'educating' home buyers, to make them aware of what to ask and look for. This normative approach is deeply grounded among architects, planners and designers, since their basic role is to shape the physical environment and to create solutions that meet functional, social and emotional needs. The aim is to add value into society. An important task for architects is thus to continuously take part in a public debate of what housing quality 'in our time' is or could be.

In the following, we briefly present some of the norms and guidelines that have been important in Norwegian professional debate. Basically we may say that they all originate (more or less) from Vitruvius' (ca 15BC) famous triad of architectural qualities or virtues: firmitas, utilitas, venustas — implying that a building should be solid, useful and beautiful. Even though this tripartition has been criticized (e.g. since it does not recognize issues such as meaning, identity etc, and because it could be questioned if it is right to separate functional aspects from aesthetical aspects) it is still often used as basis for professional quality assessment (e.g. Christiansen 1996; HB, 2000). Depending on how it is used, it supports an idea that tends to be central within the architectural professional debate: that quality is about the totality, rather than single issues:

Good architecture is always a summary of the responses to many demands and needs. The quality can never be read in single dimension only, it is the synthesis that is the point. The ability to meet several requirements simultaneously. A beautiful house which is totally useless for its purpose can never be good architecture, just as little as a perfectly functional, but ugly, sad or plain house can. (E. Eriksson 1990:37, authors translation).

Looking more detailed into some examples of norms, guidelines and quality assessment criteria for housing, we find that most of these combine functional and aesthetic aspects, but exclude the more instrumental issues (since these probably are considered to be taken care of through legal requirements).

Several norms and guidelines are formulated by public authorities, or various public bodies in different countries and architects have played a major part in the development of these guidelines. As an example, the British CABE (Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment) was the government's advisor on architecture, urban design and public space in the period from 1999 to 2011. It merged with Design Council in 2011, and provides a huge amount of publications, guidelines and case-studies meant to support 'great design' in the building sector: "For us, that means design that improves lives and makes things better" (Design Council 2015).

In Norway, The State Housing Bank was established in 1946 and has played an important role in both financing housing for 'ordinary people' as well as securing a kind of minimum quality standard (and in early years also maximum standard). The minimum standard was however abolished in 1983 with the conservative government in line with a general liberalization of the housing marked (Guttu and Schmidt 2012), and although it was reintroduced later on in the early 1990's it was finally phased out in 2005 (ibid). For the time being (2015) it is not regarded as a task for the State Housing Bank to 'secure' the quality of ordinary housing. When it comes to technical and functional requirements this should be dealt with through building codes. Other less measurable qualities are believed to be taken care of by the marked.

Even though the minimum standard as such was abolished, the Norwegian State Housing Bank for several years kept a role as a competence centre for housing qualities and put a lot of effort into collecting and disseminating knowledge and understanding for qualitative aspects towards the housing sector. After having focused mainly on the layout of the single housing units during the first decades after the second WW (HB 1985) they later on moved to a greater emphasis on the housing area, including outdoor areas and neighborhood qualities (HB 2000). The booklets published by The Housing Bank are still used by professional as checklists for housing qualities.

In "Good Housing" (HB 1985) the following issues are mentioned as important qualities: Adaptability, possibilities for zoning, securing both privacy and social activities and finally accessibility for physically handicapped or disabled persons. The booklet further gives quite specific advices on the layout of the various rooms and presents examples of good and

bad solutions. It focus on practical issues, but takes also into account the impact of daylight from different directions, possibilities for privacy and changing needs and use over time.

The guidelines for "Good Housing areas" (HB 2000) points out the role of housing in meeting social and environmental challenges. It presents nine issues or principles for decent housing areas: Landscape and outdoor qualities, local climate and air quality, traffic security, outdoor areas for practical functions, common spaces, accessibility for disabled persons and integration of various residential groups, plan layout of dwelling units and private outdoor spaces, aesthetic design, management, maintenance and social organization. Most of these issues are also of a practical character dealing with health and security aspects, practical functions, accessibility and organizational issues for the operation phase. The guidelines are rather specific when it comes to e.g. maximum distances from the dwelling to large green areas (not more than 500 m), between the dwelling and a playground for children under 6 years of age (max 50 m within a car-free area) etc. It further specifies that minimum half of the common outdoor spaces should have sun at 15:00 at vernal equinox (vårjevndøgn). For the layout of dwelling units, it is recommended that they should not have a one-sided orientation towards north / north-east, they should as a minimum have light towards two directions, one should avoid bedrooms towards access galleries and every dwelling should have a private outdoor area, also in urban settings.

When it comes to aesthetic design, the guidelines emphasize that aesthetics should not be regarded as a superficial and random decoration of the facade, but should be embedded in the totality of a building or a built area. The authors refer to Vitruvius' triad and argue that aesthetics together with functional and technical aspects defines the architectural quality (HB, 2000:44). They further state that the design of the spaces between buildings are as important as the buildings themselves, and refer to concepts used in music to describe the aesthetic qualities of a housing area such as variations, themes, harmony, rhythm and use of contrasts (ibid:45).

The advices given by the State Housing Bank when it comes to aesthetic qualities seems to be much in line with what is expressed within the professional architectural debate on quality assessment. Cold (1996) analyzed the jury statements from "Treprisen" (Norwegian award for excellent wooden architecture) awarded 12 times during the period from 1961-1986. She found that the statements could be grouped according to the following four concepts (quite similar to many of the concepts used in the HB brochure): (1) harmony with balance and totality, (2) originality and novelty (innovative) value, (3) belonging to place and landscape and (4) unpretentious and cultivated simplicity.

Although essential within the professional debate among architects, planners, designers and the building industry in general, such norms on housing qualities may have limited impact if they are not sufficiently anchored in the social and cultural context. For studies of the effect of the physical environment on quality of life of e.g. asylum seekers, it is therefore not certain that the same norms are applicable for the specific situation of this residential group. As we will see in the next section, the definitions of architectural or housing quality could never be given "once and for all". On the other hand, there is also a danger in a relativist approach. Who are in the position to judge that some qualities do not apply for certain residential groups, and on what basis may we justify that asylum seekers are offered a housing quality that no other groups in Norway would accept?

Questioning Essentialism

Theoretically the so called 'essentialist' interpretation, that objects or buildings embody specific qualities (Shove et al. 2007), is fairly questionable although it is highly common within all design professions, including architecture. The previously mentioned aim to *add value* into society is therefore not very straightforward and has been problematized also within the profession: "Architects may intend to add value, to bring something good to the world, transform it or make things better, yet despite such good intentions they have also been blamed for making things worse" (Doucet 2010: 27). The Belgian architect and researcher, Isabelle Doucet, uses the modernist architecture as example. The last century's planning history has provided an abundant number of examples of failed good intentions. It does not always work out the way architects and planners want. Instead of improving people's everyday life and supporting social equity, modern urban planning has in many cases contributed to the opposite: Creating static, monotone and hostile living environments that have increased social differences instead of decreasing them.

Doucet further questions if adding value through building is principally in the hands of the architect, and argues that value is just as much created by use – that is by the users of the building and the society it is a part of. Furthermore, she concludes that "the added value of architecture is not something one can pin down once and for all. (..) not something we can define in theory and then apply as an analytical tool to practice" (ibid: 29)

According to the Norwegian philosopher Trond Berg Eriksen (1989) there has been a major change in the understandings of the concept of quality from the pre-modern view that the quality of an object increased in line with the time and effort invested in it, to the contemporary understanding of quality as

..something which is woven into a pattern of consumption goods and images, into the whole encompassing social circulation of signs. Therefore, quality is something which cannot be assessed without knowledge about society or created without insight in the users' secret dreams (Eriksen 1989: 16, authors' translation):

We could therefore agree that the definition of quality and value in architecture is relative to context (historically as well as culturally) and perspective (e.g. as an owner, tenant, designer, neighbour, technical expert etc). The Norwegian architect and researcher Jon Guttu demonstrated how the perspectives on housing quality have changed within the architectural profession in the period between 1945 and 1990 (Guttu 2002; 2003), making it clear that there are very few universal truths when it comes to what is regarded as 'a good house' or 'a good residential neighborhood'. Perspectives on housing quality do not only change over time, but also varies according to role of those who are undertaking the assessment. Cold (1996) thus distinguishes between "subjective taste", "professional quality assessment" and "instrumental quality assessment". The first is about the fact that we like what seems familiar to us. According to Cold, we tend to prefer symmetry, we like housing which signalize our values or the lifestyle we dream about and finally we tend to prefer living close to nature and within reach of a social community. The professional quality assessment (good vs bad architectural quality) is within the architectural profession a result of continuous debate on prevailing norms, guidelines and model (canonic) examples – which as shown by Guttu has changed over time. The criteria for the quality assessment are partly based on the tacit knowledge acquired during education and practice, and partly on theories and ideas. Finally, the instrumental quality assessment (right vs wrong quality) is about whether the dwelling and housing area satisfies legal requirements as well as technical and functional criteria. Efficiency and comfort are important elements. Concepts used within this kind of quality assessment are: spaciousness, accessibility, adaptability, security, health and maintenance / cleaning.

Although norms and guidelines are important, and a basic part of architectural education and professional understanding, it becomes clear that the idea that quality is an essential feature embodied in the object or building itself is highly problematic and that "architecture's adding of value is anything but straightforward" (Doucet 2010: 28). Quality is thus something that occurs in the interaction between people and things (Hansen et al. 2010). Related to the research on housing qualities in asylum centres it becomes clear that there is a

need to contextualize perceptions of quality, and to obtain more knowledge and awareness of the specific situation of this residential group. As mentioned earlier, established norms for housing quality do not necessarily apply here, but this does not necessarily mean that we should settle for worn-down and unpleasant buildings.

Quality Assessment

In spite of the difficulties in defining universal qualities, the discussion of what appropriate accommodation for asylum seekers should be, implies a need to distinguish between different kinds and elements of housing quality in this context. In order to do so, we need a more systematic approach to the assessment of housing quality. Acknowledging the problematic in a normative approach to housing quality, architectural researchers have thus developed and suggested different versions of more or less systematic approaches – aiming towards both practice and theoretical development of the field –, which may be useful in our research.

Housing Values

Jan Ericsson uses the term values rather than qualities in his book "Bostadens värden" (1993) and states that the overall objective with housing is to "bring about healthy and happy people" (ibid:59, author's translation). In order to do so, they have to fulfill aesthetic, symbolic and practical values. Ericsson thus distinguishes between aesthetic values which is about whether the resident perceives the dwelling or housing area as beautiful or not, and symbolic values which is about how the aesthetic design communicates meaning or information. The symbolic values can be informative (how the design informs about use, orientation etc.), demonstrative (what it tells about meaning, social status, identity etc.) and affective (which feelings and associations it arises). The practical values of housing cover according to Ericsson four elements:

- Physiological/recreative: How does the architecture support the residents' basic physiological and psychological needs (for shelter, food, rest etc.)
- Psycho-social: How are the needs for privacy and social activities taken care of?
- Practical-rational: How is the dwelling and the housing area organized in order for the residents to perform their daily activities in a simplest and most pleasant way?
- Resource- economic: How do the dwelling and housing area contribute to an efficient use of resources (costs, energy, materials etc.).

Phenomenological Approaches

Other writers, such as the Swedish architect and researcher Ola Nylander emphasizes the need to be aware of the non-measurable qualities of the home (2002). He takes a phenomenological stand towards architecture and refers to theorists such as Christian Norberg- Schulz and Elias Cornell when he states that the "non-measurable architectural attributes of the home are an important part of the meaning and contents of the lives of the residents" (Nylander, 2002: 10).

There are magic rooms with amusement and delight in the air... There is an atmosphere that goes straight to the heart, a sense of mystery amidst the everyday, a kind of charge about the simplest things that animates them and gives reality a new dimension (Ellen Key, cited in Nylander, 2002:10)

In his research, Nylander uses Cornell's definition of architecture as the "aesthetic organization of practical reality" (cited in Nylander 2002:10) and asks what deeper significance non-measurable architectural attributes have for residents (ibid: 11). He then identifies the main elements "of the architectural profession's tacit understanding of residential architecture" (ibid: 12).

As part of the critique against rational modern planning, there has been a growing search for an architecture that could provide meaning and belonging for people in a modern world. Norberg-Schulz emphasized that dwelling is about being or becoming rooted in life and that the architecture should express and even strengthen the place identity (Norberg-Schulz 1980). In line with this, the Finnish architect and theorist Juhani Pallasmaa speaks up for an architecture of reconciliation: 'an architecture that can mediate man's "homecoming" (Pallasmaa 2005/1994:125). Even though architecture only could be what he calls 'a container' or 'a shell' for a home: "home is an individualized dwelling, and the means of this subtle personalization seem to be outside of our concept of architecture" (ibid:113-114), he still regards it as the task of architects to tolerate and encourage personalization. This implies creating architecture that "is based on images that are deeply rooted in our common memory, that is, in the phenomenologically authentic ground of architecture". (ibid: 124). Without lapsing into simplification and populism, he identifies some of the ingredients in a home, which are also part of the architectural solutions. Some of these are often neglected in modern housing: Secret rooms and hiding places, the unifying hearth or fireplace, the large shared table which structures and symbolizes social relations and the difference between working days and Sundays, the bed recess (sovealkove) where the bed as the most intimate core of the

home becomes a private space within the room, a house within the house, and finally the window which according to Pallasmaa (ibid: 122-123) is much more than a glass area between inside and outside:

The window and, in particular, the act of looking out of the window of the home to the yard or to the garden is a poetic and essential experience of home. The home is particularly strongly felt when you look out from its enclosed privacy. (..) The tendency of contemporary architecture to use glass walls eliminates the window as a framing and focusing device and weakens the essential tension between the home and the world-the ontological essence of the door has been lost in the same way.

How to Evaluate Quality?

Post Occupancy Evaluation (POE) is a joint designation of tools, which aim to "systematically compare actual building performance, i.e., performance measures, with explicitly stated performance criteria" (Preiser 1995:19). Having its origins in the US, POE seeks to evaluate the performance of the building as it is perceived from the perspective of the user: "It assesses how well buildings match users' needs, and identifies ways to improve building design, performance and fitness for purpose" (POE 2014). Performing a POE thus implies the need to identify specific performance critieria, which may be difficult in residential settings, and in particular in asylum centres since there are no established requirements for the quality of such centres. There is also a danger that these kinds of tools neglect aspects of housing qualities that are not measurable (Nylander 2002) but that are all the same essential for residential well-being. When evaluating housing qualities, several considerations will have to be made. We have already mentioned the need to emphasize the user perspective and also to include both measurable and non-measurable elements.

Some writers further point out the need to not only look at the dwelling itself, but to extend the evaluation to include the larger neighborhood. Guttu et al (2004) suggested six elements at this level which they argued were essential for residential well-being: (1) Health and security, (2) Social issues, (3) Access to service and facilities, (4) Central location, (5) Space for leisure activities and (6) Cultural heritage and aesthetic aspects supporting identity and place attachment. Other researchers have distinguished between individually based housing qualities and those which are more related to societal challenges (Narvestad 2008; Støa et al, 2006). While the first is about how the dwelling meets individual needs and preferences, based on life situation, economy, taste etc., the second category focuses on how

housing meets societal challenges such as climate changes, social segregation, demographic changes, health issues, economic policies and also cultural issues related to aesthetic qualities of our built environment, cultural heritage etc. In their study of housing qualities in small apartments in Trondheim (Støa et al 2006), the researchers identified the following criteria (p. 9):

From an individual user perspective:

- Physiological: Heat, light, air
- Practical: Usability in order to perform daily activities, storage etc
- Social: Space for being together with friends, family and other members of the household, but also possibilities to be alone
- Psychological: Safety, independence, aesthetics, identity, sense of feeling at home etc

From a societal perspective there is generally a demand for sustainable and durable housing and housing areas:

- Aesthetic qualities: Interplay with surroundings
- Community: Thriving, diverse and stable local communities
- Accessibility: Universal Design
- Adaptability
- Low carbon footprint

Although these criteria were suggested for the quality assessment of permanent housing, one may argue that most of these issues also are relevant for asylum seekers as a residential group, including the societal implications of the localization, design and technical standard of the asylum centres. At least the list can be used as a starting point for discussing quality in Norwegian asylum centres.

The Asylum Seeker Reception Centres in Norway

In this section we present a short overview on official views and guidelines that govern the establishing of asylum seeker reception centres. This is meant to provide a general picture of the actual social and political conditions in which the reception centres are formed and run. However, it should be noted that while this description is written both the reception system, the kinds of reception centers and other related parts, are currently in change as a response to the dramatic increased number of asylum-seeker arrivals during fall 2015.

The Immigration Law (*Utlendingsloven*) paragraph 95, first section, first article, states the right for foreigners that seek asylum in Norway to be offered an accommodation. The law does not state what kind of accommodation these persons are entitled to, nor does it explicitly state which governmental institution that is responsible for accommodation. In second article it is noted that a foreigner with negative result on asylum application may be offered lodging, while waiting for return. In second section it is opportunity to make regulations concerning lodging, which include the possibility to offer and withdraw lodging facilities. Today's 6 (before the dramatic increase of arrivals which have led to changes in the refugee reception system) laws and regulations of reception centres in Norway are not substantially different from most EU-countries.

In Norway, asylum-seeker reception centres are defined as part of migration politics and not as part of housing politics. In zoning plans, sentralised centres are defined as 'buildings with public- or private services' while desentralised units are defined as 'housing' (Kommunal- og Moderniseringsdepartementet, 2015). In order to establish new centres in existing buildings local building authorities will in most cases require an approval for change of use⁷. This implies that the regulations in the Planning and Building act (PBL) will apply. PBL has specific requirements on technical issues (e.g. ventilation and daylight) and fire safety, but is far more general when it comes to plan layout and housing qualities. The building authorities thus have few instruments to use in order to secure a minimum quality on issues such as private space per person, of how many residents who can share toilets and showers etc.

The system of asylum-seeker reception of today has existed since the late 1980s of which the first was established in Trondheim in 1987 in localities that was earlier utilized as a motel and dormitory (Valenta and Berg 2012). Before 1987 the reception of asylum-seekers was rather random and improvised. Today's reception system is a consequence of the increasing numbers of asylum-seekers during the 1980s. The debates concerning the housing-conditions of asylum-seekers was then, as today, determined at not being too generous,

though not too simple. In policy documents the asylum centres are described to offer a 'simple, but reasonable standard' ('nøktern standard').

The centres are commonly established within already existing (and often run-down) buildings (NOU 2011:10; Hauge et al. 2015; Strumse et al. 2016 forthcoming). The generally low housing standard is also a response to fluctuations in the number of asylum-seekers. The state sets as minimum that the reception-centre's housing capacity shall be 90%, which implies frequent openings and closings of reception centres. The limited economic resources and variations in number of asylum-seekers who arrive in Norway create challenges in planning for asylum-centres. In Norway contracts to run reception centres are bid out for open competitions in the private market, while The Norwegian Directorate of Immigration (UDI) keeps agreements with municipalities, NGOs, and private operators (Larsen 2014). The employment of short-term contracts and the risk of losing the contract on three months' notice, may contribute to low housing standards and simple solutions (while politically a low standard aims to lessen attraction for asylum seekers, practically serving as a deterrence).

The UDI's specifications for asylum reception centres describes the reception centres as "simple, but reasonable⁸ accommodation that secure the residents' needs and security" ("nøktern men forsvarlig innkvartering som sikrer beboernes behov og trygghet). The specific aims and considerations related to services targeted at asylum-seekers are (NOU 2011:10) (author's translation):

- 1. Facilitate quick settlement, integration and inclusion if the application is successful.
- 2. Motivate and facilitate return and re-integration in home-country if application is not successful.
- 3. Cost-efficiency.
- 4. Secure individual dignity and functional ability.

These aims are contradictive when considering the aim of facilitating integration while also motivating and facilitating return to home-country. Also the aim for cost-efficient while securing each individual's dignity and functional ability may often be contradictive, although not necessarily. There are no definition of how to understand 'simple but reasonable' in terms of specific quality standards, but UDI has issued requirements for accommodation (UDI 2008) stating that everyone must have a bed to sleep in, access to lockable bathrooms, and common space for social interaction fit for residents of different sex and age. The document also states that the sanitary conditions are to be satisfactory and that the residents should have access to washing machines and space to dry clothes. Further residents should have access to

cooking facilities in the ordinary reception centres, and to be offered "nutritious, varied and sufficient feeding" in transit centres. And finally, residents with special needs are to be offered specialized accommodation as far as possible and single women should be offered accommodation that is separate from men.

The reception centre system in Norway contains two main kinds: transit centres (transittmottak) and ordinary centres (ordinære mottak). The ordinary centres include sections for single minors between 15 and 18 years of age, and reinforced sections for residents with special needs. After a health screening and delivery of asylum application most asylum-seekers are delegated a place in one of the ordinary centres. Many asylum seekers wait for weeks and months before the asylum interviews are conducted, often after being placed in a reception centre.

Approximately 130 reception centres⁹ are today spread all over the country, organized as either centralised, partly decentralised or decentralised centres. The fully centralised centres have a staff-office and all accommodation on campus. The partly decentralised centres have a main office on a campus with one or several buildings with accommodation, and also rent houses and apartments in the local community for extra accommodation. A decentralised reception centre offers a main office with staff, where the asylum-seekers come to seek assistance and information, while they all live in ordinary houses spread out in the community. Three out of four reception centres in Norway today are completely or partly decentralized (Strumse et al., 2016¹⁰). An extended use of decentralized housing units came as a response partially to the increase in numbers of asylum seekers to Norway during 2008 and 2009, but also based on the idea of providing a more normalized housing situation that could have positive effects on issues like integration and empowerment of the residents (NOU 2011).

In July 2015 EU's revised "Reception Conditions Directive" was made applicable for all member states ¹¹ (Official Journal of the European Union, 2013). It establishes common standards of conditions of living of asylum applicants and is meant to prevent a situation with diverging practices among Member States, which could lead to inadequate conditions for asylum seekers in some countries. Still, the formulations are rather general with no specific criteria given when it comes to e.g how to understand 'dignified' or 'adequate' standard'. As examples, it is stated here that:

Standards for the reception of applicants that will suffice to ensure them a dignified standard of living and comparable living conditions in all Member States should be laid down. (Paragraph 11, p. L 180/97).

Member States shall ensure that material reception conditions provide an adequate standard of living for applicants, which guarantees their subsistence and protects their physical and mental health. Member States shall ensure that standard of living is met in the specific situation of vulnerable persons [...], as well as in relation to the situation of persons who are in detention (Article 17, p. L 180/104-105).

Even though Norway is not bound to the EU's legislation on asylum seekers and immigration, except for the so called Dublin Regulation¹², there is an overall goal to harmonize Norwegian immigration policies to other European countries' policies within the field (Justis- og politidepartementet 2009; Regjeringen.no 2014). UDI and operators of reception centres are members of international networks aiming to exchange information and good practices on the reception and support of asylum seekers. Important networks are the European Migration Network (EMN)¹³, European Network of Asylum Reception Organisations (ENARO)¹⁴ and European Platform of Reception Agencies (EPRA)¹⁵. EPRA is coordinated by the Federal Agency for the Reception of Asylum Seekers (FEDASIL) in Belgium and has as one of its tasks to develop a common European platform for quality standards for reception centres. At the moment of writing, this common platform is not publicly available. According to a report from EMN (2014) the available living area per person varies in member states varies between 4 m2 and 15 m2 (ibid: 18).

Some countries have handbooks that indicate quality standards, others have circulars, and some regulate the facilities in the contracts made with the operating management. The Swedish Migration Agency (*Migrationsverket*) developed in 2011, together with the Swedish Standards Institute (SSI) guidelines for the quality of accommodation facilities (SSI 2011). It states some fundamental principles for adequate living conditions such as independent living (*självhushåll*), maximum two persons in each room and localization close to shops, public transport and services. The accommodation should have acceptable technical standard, in particular sufficient daylight and a well-functioning ventilation system are mentioned (ibid: 13). Facilities offered should be based on individual considerations and needs (ibid: 12). It also gives rather detailed prescriptions on what kind of equipment and furnishing each housing unit should have (ibid: 28-31).

Also in Belgium, FEDASIL is working on developing quality standards and a system of auditing reception centres in order to secure a basic quality. The quality standards here are at the time of writing not finally approved, but they will i.a. include requirements on

minimum square meter private space per person, maximum single persons sharing a room, maximum persons sharing toilets, showers etc.

In Norway, the so called 'Berge-committee' (NOU 2011: 10) suggested a law to regulate the reception system which include the security of a dignified living (*verdig tilværelse*), and a responsible and equal offer of accommodation. The normative plea for a dignified life implies a request of a satisfactory living standard. The NOU-report concluded however that there should be no general minimum standards for asylum-seeker reception centres. Still it suggested some concrete criteria, such as single rooms for single adult asylum seekers after one year (NOU 2011:21). What is also relevant when it comes to the standard of reception centres, is that the NOU-report suggested to establish so called 'base-centres' with more long term operation contracts which would make it possible to build up the quality of staff competence, services and activities for the residents and also to provide more long term material qualities of the centres (ibid: 135 ff).

Research shows that the quality of buildings utilized as reception centres vary, though the buildings are generally worn-down and not suitable as reception-centres (Berg 2012; Hauge et al. 2015; Strumse et al. 2016 forthcoming). The housing quality is based on short term residence, while in fact many asylum-seekers stay for several years. The time waiting for a final assessment of asylum application in Norway, has steadily increased until 2014 (Larsen, 2014), though it is a small decrease in 2014. In 2012, 50% of the asylum-seekers lived more than 1.5 years and 41% more than 3 years at a reception centre. In December 2014 36% of the asylum-seekers had stayed more than 1.5 years, and 25% more than 3 years at a reception centre (UDI 2014a). The most numerous groups come from Somalia, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Syria and Afghanistan. About 1/3 of the residents have resident permit and are waiting for settlement in a municipality. 1/3 are waiting for answer to their application, and 1/3 have received a negative assessment and are waiting to be deported out of Norway (UDI 2014b).

Concluding Remarks: A Humanistic Perspective on Housing and Home for Asylum Seekers
Considering the various perspectives deliberated above we acknowledge the intertwined
complexities that arise when exploring the relationships between housing, social life and
individual well-being. To study the effect of the built environment, such as the asylum
reception centre and their surroundings on well-being, we need to see the separate
components, while also seeing the interwoven patterns that make the various houses at
different times and places, and in different cultural contexts.

When choosing relevant literature, we have looked for sources that we consider respond fruitfully to our field of inquiry; asylum seeker reception centres and how these influence the residents' well-being. A complicating factor is of course the temporality of reception centres both in respect to their function and for the residents' time of living there. The intended time of residency in the reception centres is meant to be a short-time stay, while a substantial number stay in the reception centres for many years.

In light of the temporality embedded in the asylum-seeker reception centres one may wonder why we have included an emphasis on the concept and experience of 'home'. As earlier discussed, we see 'home' as a fruitful concept as it engages with our concern for identity and well-being. Responding to how we see the asylum seeker reception centres not to fit with 'total institutions' (Goffman 1961), we have not engaged with the vast literature related institutions (hospitals, prisons, asylums, care for elderly and such). This is also motivated from our perspective in which we recognise the asylum seekers as part of the normal population, in terms of not being clients, patients or other persons with 'special needs' by somatic sickness, functional disabilities, retardations, mental distress or disorders, geriatric conditions and such. We rather aim to highlight asylum-seekers as fellow citizens who are entitled to seek asylum and protection within our society with generally ordinary needs, while in a special situation. We haste to underline, as earlier mentioned, that this view is not meant to ignore asylum seeker populations and individuals' specific life conditions related to distress, trauma and refuge from war, persecution and/or discrimination. However, we propose our study to benefit from perspectives that we see to be applicable for all human populations as we understand humanity to share an equal need of housing in terms of its effects on wellbeing, meaning, identity, social organisation, home and home-making, agency, and the architecture of housing qualities.

Looking into research literature on housing with a special concern for residents' well-being we recognise how built environment is symbolic and become agentive structures and communicators. We can safely conclude that buildings, places and environment of asylum-

seeker reception centres affect the way the majority population perceive its residents, as well as the way the asylum-seekers perceive themselves. This appears in terms of social class, position and status, as well as processes of identity, stigmatisation and othering. In turn, the accommodation offered effect asylum-seekers' identity, well-being and the processes of inclusion in the main-stream society. Thus, investigating asylum-seeker reception centres as physical structures proves to be a potent approach when aiming to explore and ensure asylum-seekers well-being and integration.

Furthermore, the literature demonstrates that 'house' is commonly set up together with or interchanged with 'home', in which house refer more to the physical space and home to the territorial place. Home takes on psychological emotional meanings and its relationship to house may not be taken for granted. However, the literature demonstrates that people engage in home-making practices that endow places with meaning and importance by for instance embedding and re-embedding social relations. Such practices take place in both permanent, long-term and temporary dwellings, as well among people "on the move" who constantly change location. Overall, the literature suggests that the quality of housing is vital for its residents' perception of and ability to create identity, well-being and social integration. More so, the literature suggests that an important factor for well-being and integration is to reside in architecture that manifest an equal quality, in terms of its physical structure, placement and environment, as the majority population enjoys.

By way of concluding we attract attention to in particular eight points we see as important when we are to consider the effect of housing on asylum-seekers' well-being:

- (1) The physical environment has communicative meaning related to social attributes, personality and social status. This represents a potential risk for misunderstandings and prejudices.
- (2) Experiences of security and well-being can be effected by spatially and social characteristics of the area. Migration movements and settlement of asylum seekers can significantly affect the perception of residential areas.
- (3) Organisation of space and placement of people in distinct places expresses certain forms of power (Foucault 2000).
- (4) Spaces can create distinctions and define "others" from us, while the process of 'otherising' can also deal with a fear of sameness rather than otherness (Hage, 2002). Such processes of otherising are not only mental processes, but as much spatial processes.
- (5) Home is a relevant concept as the asylum-seeker residents evaluate their current living situation in relation to ideas of home (Horst 2004). Horst (2004) found four important

factors: a) lack of autonomy, b) lack of the possibility to uphold certain cultural traditions, c) ideas about the relations between family and home are disturbed due to the lack of space in the reception centre, and d) being in control of what and when to eat was central for the asylum-seekers' sense of well-being.

- (6) Housing quality is something that occurs in the interaction between people and things (Hansen et al. 2010), thus research on housing qualities in asylum centres makes it clear that there is a need to contextualize perceptions of quality, and to obtain more knowledge and awareness of the specific and temporal situation of asylum seekers.
- (7) It is not certain that the same housing norms are applicable for all residential groups, and the definitions of architectural or housing quality can never be given once and for all. However, there is good reason to question on what basis we justify that asylum seekers are offered a housing quality that no other groups in Norway are offered.
- (8) The debates concerning the housing-conditions of asylum-seekers are focused at not being too generous, though not too simple. In policy documents the asylum centres are described so as to offer a 'simple, but reasonable standard' ('nøktern standard'). The question is, what is reasonable housing and on what terms?

References

Agamben, G. 1998. *Homo sacer: sovereign power and bare life*, Stanford, Stanford University Press.

Agnew, J. 1981. Home ownership and identity in capitalist societies. In J. S. Duncan (Ed.). *Housing and identity: Cross-cultural perspectives*, (pp. 60-134). London: Croom Helm.

Ahmed, S., Castaneda, C., Fortier, A.-M., & Sheller, M. 2003. Introduction: Uprootings/Regroundings: Questions of Home and Migration. In S. Ahmed, C. Castaneda, F. Anne-Marie, & M. Sheller, *Uprootings/Regroundings: Questions of Home and Migration* (pp. 1-19). Oxford: Berg Publishers.

Altman, I. 1975. *The environment and social behavior: Privacy, personal space, territoriality and crowding.* Monterey, Ca.: Brooks/Cole.

Archea, J. 1977. The place of architectural factors in behavioral theories of privacy. *Journal of social issues*, 33(3) 116-137.

ARQ. 2009. "Agent Architect", leader in *ARQ* (Architectural Research Quarterly) 13, no. 2, p: 99.

Benjamin, D. N., Stea, D. & Saile, D. 1995. *The home: Words, interpretations, meanings, and environments*. Aldershot: Avebury.

Berg, B. 2012. Mottakssystemet: historikk og utviklingstrender. In: Valenta, M. and B. Berg (eds.) *Asylsøker i velferdsstatens venterom*, pp 17-32. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.

Birdwell-Pheasant, D. and Lawrence-Zuniga, D. 1999. Introduction. In: Birdwell-Pheasant, D. and Lawrence-Zuniga, D. (eds.) *House Life: Space, Place and Family in Europe*, pp.1-35. Oxford: Berg.

Blunt, A. & Dowling, R. 2006. Home. Abingdon: Routledge.

Blumer, H. 1968. *Symbolic Interactionism: Perspective and Method*. Berkeley: University of California Press.

Bourdieu, P. 1976. Marriage Strategies as Strategies of Social Reproduction. In: Forster, R. and Ranum, O. (eds) *Family and Society (Selections from the Annales, Economies, Societes, Civilisations)*, pp. 117-144. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.

Bourdieu, P. 1977. Outline of a Theory of Practice. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Bourdieu, P. 1979 [1970]. The Kabyle House of the World Reversed. In: P. Bourdieu (ed.) *Algeria 1960*, pp. 133-53. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Bourdieu, P. 1984 [1979]. *Distinction. A Social Critique of the Judgement of Taste*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.

Bouquet, Mary. 1996. Family Trees ad Their Affinities: The Visual Imperative of the Genealogical Diagram. *Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute (Incorporating Man)* 2(1): 43-66.

Carsten, Janet and Hugh-Jones, Stpehen. 1995. *About the House. Lévi-Strauss and Beyond.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Christiansen, J. 1996. *Arkitektonisk kvalitet – dansk boligbyggeri 1975-1995*. Hørsholm: Boligminsteriet

Clapham, D. 2005. *The Meaning of Housing. A Pathways Approach*. Bristol, UK: The Polity Press.

Clarke, A. J. 2001. The Aesthetics of Social Aspiration. In D. Miller (ed.) *Home Possessions: Material Culture Behind Closed Doors* (pp.23-46). Oxford: Berg.

Cold, B. 1996. Boligen vi liker. In Svendsen, S E & M Hvattum (eds): *Hva er god boligsak?* Oslo: Ad Notam Gyldendal / Den Norske Stats Husbank.

Cold, B. 2001. Aesthetics, well-being and health. Ashgate: Aldershot.

Daniels, I. 2010. The Japanese House: Material culture in the Modern Home. Oxford: Berg.

Danto, A. C. 1982. Abide/Abode. In: Taylor, Lisa (ed.) *Housing: Symbol, Structure, Site.* New York: Rizzoli.

Design Council. 2015. Website: http://www.designcouncil.org.uk/about-us (accessed 2015-08-02)

Desprès, C. 1991. The meaning of home: Literature Review and Directions for Further Research and Theoretical Development. *Journal of Architectural and Planning Research* 8, 96-115.

Doucet, I. and Cupers, K. 2009. Agency in Architecture: Rethinking Criticality in Theory and Practice, editorial in *Footprint* 04, pp 1–6

Doucet, I. 2010. Problematising the Question. *Conditions*, No4 / 2010, pp 26-29.

Duncan, J. S. 1985. The house as a symbol of social structure. In I. Altman & C. M. Werner (Eds.) *Home Environments*, pp. 133-151. New York: Plenum Press.

EMN. 2014. The Organisation of Reception Facilities for Asylum Seekers in different Member States. Europ ean Migration Network Study 2014. Synthesis Report. European Commission, Home Affairs.

Eriksson, E. 1990. *Den moderna stadens födelse : svensk arkitektur 1890-1920*, Stockholm : Ordfronts förlag.

Ericsson, J. 1993. Bostadens värden. Gävle: Statens institut för byggnadsforskning

Eriksen, T. B. 1989. Kvalitet, arbeid og sirkulasjon. In Samtiden 2 / 1989

Evans, G. W., Palsane, M. N., Lapore, S. J., & Martin, J. 1989. Residential density and psychological health: The mediating effects of social support. *Journal of Personality and social psychology*. 57: 994-999.

Evans, G. W., Wells, N. M., Chan, H. Y. E., & Saltzman, H. 2000. Housing quality and mental health. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*. 68: 526-530.

Evans, G.W. (2006) Child Development and the physical environment. *Annual Review of Psychology*. 57: 423-451.

Evans, G. W., Wells., N.M. & Moch, A. 2003. Housing and mental health: A review of the evidence and methodological and conceptual critique. *Journal of Social issues*, Vol 59 (3): 475-500.

Evans, G.W., & Saegert, S. 2000. Residential crowding in the context of inner city poverty. In S.Wapner, J. Demick, H. Minami, & T. Yamamoto (Eds.), *Theoretical perspectives in environment- behavior research*, pp. 247-268. New York: Plenum

Evans, G.W., Lepore, S. J., Shejwal, B. R.,&Palsane, M. N. 1998. Chronic residential crowding and children's well being: An ecological perspective. *Child Development*, Vol 69 (6): 1514-1523.

Fekete, L. 2001. The emergence of xeno-racism. Race & Class 43(2): 23-

Foucault, M. 1974. *The order of things: An archaeology of the human sciences*, London, Tavistock Publications.

Foucault, M. 2000. *Power: essential works of Foucault 1954-1984*, vol. 3, London, Penguin Press.

Franck, K. (1984). Exorcising the ghost of physical determinism. *Environment and Behavior*, 16: 411-435.

Ferguson, K. T., Cassells, R. C., MacAllister, J. W., Evans, G. W. 2013. The physical environment and child development: An international review. *International Journal of Psychology*, 48: 437-468.

Furgerson, K.T. 2008. Infant development in the context of Malawian infant homes. Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering. 69(2): 1358.

Garvey, P. 2001. Organised Disorder: Moving Furniture in Norwegian Houses. In: Miller, D (ed.). *Home Possessions: Material Culture Behind Closed Doors*. Oxford: Berg.

García-Mira, R., D.L. Uzzell, J. E. Real, J. Romay (eds). 2005. *Housing, Space and Quality of Life*. Aldershot, UK: Ashgate.

Gell, Alfred. 1998. Art and Agency: An Anthropological Theory. Oxford: Clarendon Press.

Giddens, A. 1984. *The Constituion of Society: Outline of the Theory of Structuration*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.

Gieryn, T. 2002. What Buildings Do. *Theory and Society* 31: 35–74

Gifford, R. 2002. *Environmental psychology: principles and practice* (3rd ed.). Canada: Optimal books.

Gifford, R. 2007. *Environmental psychology. Principles and practice*. 4th ed. Colville, Wash.: Optimal Books.

Goffman, E. 1959. The presentation of self in everyday life. Doubleday: New York.

Goffman, E. 1961. Asylums. Essays on the Social Situation of Mental Patients and Other Inmates. London: Penguin Books.

Goldstein, G., Novick, R., & Schaefer, M. 1990. Housing, health and well-being: An international perspective. *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare*, 17: 161-181.

Gram-Hanssen, K. & Beck-Danielsen, C. 2004. House, home and identity from a consumption perspective. *Housing, Theory and Society*, 21: 17-26.

Grønningsæter, A. B., & Nielsen, R. A. 2011. *Bolig, helse og sosial ulikhet*. Oslo: Helsedirektoratet.

Guite, H.F., C. Clark, G. Ackrill. 2006. The Impact of the Physical and Urban Environment on Mental Well-Being. *Public Health*.

Gullestad, M. 2002. Kitchen-table society. (First ed. 1984). Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.

Guttu, J. 2002. Tidsskifter og syn på boligkvalitet. Regionale Trender 1: 2-13. Oslo:NIBR

Guttu, J. 2003. "Den gode boligen" Fagfolks oppfatninger av boligkvalitet gjennom 50 år. PhD-thesis, Oslo:AHO

Guttu, J., Schmidt, L., Anker, M., Arnesen, O. E. & Boro, M. 2004. *Bokvalitet på områdenivå*. *Utvikling og utprøving av en metode for kartlegging og vurdering av bokvalitet på områdenivå*. Notat 2004:119, Oslo NIBR/NIKU

Guttu, J. & Schmidt, L. 2012. Nye byboliger i et kvalitetsperspektiv. In Nordahl, B. (ed): *Boligmarked og Boligpolitikk*. Trondheim: Akademika Forlag

Hage, G. 2002. Transcript of a talk, public forum *Let's talk about race – culture, privilege and prejudice*, University of Western Australia, September 12, 2002.

Halpern, D. 1995. *Mental health and the built environment: More than bricks and mortar?*London: Taylor & Francis

Hansen, G. K., Blakstad, S. & Knudsen, W. 2010. *USEtool: evaluering av brukskvalitet : metodehåndbok*, Oslo: SINTEF Byggforsk

Hassan, R. 1977. Social and psychological implications of high population density. *Civilisations*. 27(3-4): 228.

Hauge, Å. L. 2009. *Housing and identity – the meaning of housing in communicating identity and its influence on self-perception*. PhD-thesis. Trondheim: NTNU.

Hauge Å.L. and Støa, E. 2009. "Here you get a little extra push": The meaning of architectural quality in housing for the formerly homeless – a case study of Veiskillet in Trondheim, Norway. *Nordic Journal of Architectural Research / Nordisk Arkitekturforskning*. 1: 18-31.

Hauge, Å. L., Denizou, K. and Støa, E. 2015. *Bokvalitet på norske asylmottak*. SINTEF Fag 29. Oslo: SINTEF akademisk forlag

Heft, H. 1979. Background and focal environmental conditions of the home and attention in young children 1. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*. 9(1): 47-69.

Heft, H. 1985. High residential density and perceptual-cognitive development: and examination of effects of crowding an noise in the home. In J. F. Wohlwill & W. van Vliet (eds.). *Habitats for children: the impacts of density*. Hilssdale: NJ: Erbaum.

Helgesen, M. K., Holm, A., Monkerud, L. & Schmidt, L. 2014. *Bolig og folkehelse – hva er sammenhengen? En litteraturstudie*. NIBR rapport 2014:16, Oslo: NIBR

Herlihy, D. 1985. Medivial Households. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.

Horst, H. v. d. 2004. Living in a reception centre: the search for home in an institutional Setting. *Housing, Theory and Society*, 21(1): 36-46

Husbanken. 1985. God Bolig. Oslo: Den Norske Stats Husbank

Husbanken. 2000. Gode Boligområder. HB 7.F.3, Oslo: Den Norske Stats Husbank

Jansen, S., & Löfving, S. 2009. Introduction: Towards an Anthropology of Violence, Hope and the Movement of People. In S. Jansen, & S. Löfving (Eds.), *Struggles for Home. Violence, Hope and the Movement of People*, pp. 1-23. New York, Oxford: Berghan Books.

Johnson, M.: 1993. *Housing Culture: Traditional Architecture in and English Landscape*. Washington, DC: Smithsonian Institution.

Justis- og Politidepartementet. 2009. *Norsk flyktning- og migrasjonspolitikk i et europeisk perspektiv*. Meld.St. 2009-2011. See:

https://www.regjeringen.no/no/dokumentarkiv/stoltenberg-ii/jd/tema-og-redaksjonelt-innhold/redaksjonelle-artikler/2012/faktaark-stortingsmelding-om-norsk-flykt/id600197/ [accessed 2015-11-03]

Kaplan, S. 1995. The restorative benefits of nature: Toward an integrative framework. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 15: 169-182.

Kissoon, P. 2010. From Persecution to Destitution: A Snapshot of Asylum Seekers' Housing and Settlement Experiences in Canada and the United Kingdom. *Journal of Immigrant and Refugee Sudies*. 8: 4-31.

Kommunal- og Moderniseringsdepartmentet. 2015. Rundskriv H-4/15 Kommuners saksbehandling av asylmottak etter plan- og bygningsloven. Oslo: Kommunal- og Moderniseringsdepartmentet

Kruger, J.S. 2002. Children in South African squatter camp gain and lose a voice. In L. Chawla (Ed.) *Growing up in an urbanizing world*, pp. 111-133. London: Earthscan/UNESCO

Larsen, H. 2014. *The Organisation of Reception Facilities for Asylum Seekers in Norway*. Oslo: EMN/ UDI.

Laslett, Peter and Wall, Raichare (eds.) 1972. *Household and Family in Past Time*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

Latour, B. [as Jim Johnson] 1988. Mixing Humans and Nonhumans Together: The Sociology of a Door-Closer. *Social Problems*. 35: 298-310.

Latour, B.and Yavena, A. 2009. "Give Me a Gun and I Will Make all Buildings Move": An ANT's View of Architecture. In Geiser, R. ed., *Explorations in Architecture: Teaching, Design, Research*. Basel: Birkhauser, pp 80–89.

Lawrence, J. R. 1987. *Housing, Dwellings and Homes. Design Theory, Research and Practice.*Chichester, New York, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore: John Wiley & Sons.

Lawrence, R. 2002. Health and residential environments. In R. Bechtel, A. Churchman (Eds.), *Handbook in Environmental psychology*, pp. 394-413. New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Lee, T. 2003. Schema theory and the role of socio-spatial schemata. In M. Bonnes, T. Lee & M. Bonaiuto (eds.) *Psychological theories for environmental issues*, pp. 27-61. England: Ashgate Publishing Limited.

Liddel, C., and Kruger P. 1989. Activity and social behaviour in a crowded South African township nursery: A follow-up study on the effects of crowding at home. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*. 35: 209-226.

Lindstrom, B. 1997. A sense of place: Housing selection on Chicago's north shore. *The Sociological Quarterly*, 38: 19-39.

Malinowski, B. 1963 [1913]. *The Family Among the Australian Aborigines*. New York: Schocken Books.

Mallet, S. 2004. Understanding home: a critical review of the literature. *The Sociological Review* 52: 62-89.

Märtsin, M. and Niit, T. 2005. The Home as a Territiorial System (II). In: García-Mira, R., D.L. Uzzell, J. E. Real, J. Romay (eds). *Housing, Space and Quality of Life*. Aldershot, UK: Ashgate. Pp. 151-171.

Marcoux, J.-S. 2001. The Refurbishment of Memory. In: Miller, D (ed.). *Home Possessions: Material Culture Behind Closed Doors*. Oxford: Berg.

Margulis, S. T. 2003. On the status and contriution of Westin's and Altman's theories of privacy. *Journal of Social Issues*, 59: 411- 429.

Mauss, M. and Beuchat, H. 1979 [1906] *Seasonal Variations of the Eskimo. A Study in Social Morphology*. New York: Routledge.

Macintyre, S., Kearns, A., Ellaway, A. & Hiscock, R. (2000). *The Thaw Report*. Glasgow: The University of Glasgow.

Miller, D. 1998. Why some things matter. In D. Miller, *Material cultures. Why some things matter*, pp. 3-21. London: UCL Press.

Miller, D. 2001. Possessions. In D. Miller (Ed.), *Home Possessions. Material Culture behind Closed Doors*, pp. 107-121. Oxford, New York: Berg.

Miller, D. (ed.) 2001. *Home Possessions: Material Culture Behind Closed Doors*. Oxford: Berg.

Miller, D. 2001. Behind Closed Doors. In: Miller, D (ed.). *Home Possessions: Material Culture Behind Closed Doors*. Oxford: Berg.

Morgan, L. H. 1981 [1881]. *Houses and House-Life of the American Aborigines*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press. [1881: Whitefish, MT: Kessinger.]

Myers, D. 2002. Social psychology (7th ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.

Narvestad, R. 2008. *Boligkvalitet i et samfunnsperspektiv: en casestudie av 8 nye norske boligprosjekter*. SINTEF-report 12:2008, Trondheim: SINTEF Byggforsk

Nasar, J. K. 1988. *Environmental aesthetics, theory, research and applications*. Cambridge: Syndicate Press, University of Cambridge.

Nasar, J. L. 1989. Symbolic meanings of house styles. *Environment and Behaviour*, 21: 235-257.

Nasar, J. L. & Julian, D. 1985. Effects of labelled meaning on the affective quality of housing scenes. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 5: 335-344.

Norberg-Schulz, C. 1980. Genius Loci: Towards a Phenomenology of Architecture. New York: Rizzoli

NOU. 2011. *I velferdsstatens venterom. Mottakstilbudet for asylsøkere*. Norges offentlige Utredninger. 2011:10. Oslo: Departementenes servicesenter Informasjonsforvaltning

Nylander, O. 2002. Architecture of the home. Chichester: Wiley-Academy

Official Journal of the European Union. 2013. DIRECTIVE 2013/33/EU OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL of 26 June 2013 laying down standards for the reception of applicants for international protection (recast). See: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=CELEX:32013L0033 [Accessed 2015-11-03]

Olwig, K. F. (1998). Epilogue: Contested Homes: Home-making and the Making of Anthropology. In N. Rapport, & A. Dawson (Eds.), *Migrants of Identity. Perceptions of Home in a World of Movement* (pp. 225-236). Oxford: Berg.

Ozaki, Ritsuko. 2005. House Design as a Representation of Values and Lifestyles: The Meaning of Use of Domestic Space. In: García-Mira, R., D.L. Uzzell, J. E. Real, J. Romay (eds). 2005. *Housing, Space and Quality of Life*, pp. 97-113. Aldershot, UK: Ashgate.

Paadam, K. 2003. Constructing residence as home: Homeowners and their housing histories. Tallin: TPÜ, Kirjastus.

Pallasmaa, J. 2005/1994. Identity, Intimacy, and Domicile. Notes on the Phenomenology of Home. In MacKeith, P (ed): *Encounters. Architectural essays*, pp. 112-126. Helsinki: Rakennustieto.

Parkin, Robert. 1997. Kinship: An Introduction to the Basic Concepts. Oxford: Balckwell.

Petridou, E. 2001. The Taste of Home. In: Miller, D (ed.). *Home Possessions: Material Culture Behind Closed Doors*. Oxford: Berg.

Pink, S. 2004. Home Truths. Gender, Domestic Objects and Everyday Life. Oxford: Berg.

POE. 2014: *Post Occupancy Evaluation*. Available at: http://www.postoccupancyevaluation.com/default.shtml [Accessed 30.10.2014]

Potter, J. J., Canterero, R., Yan, C. W., Larrick, S., Keele, H., & Ramirez, B. E. 2005. How Does Immigration Impact on the Quality of Life in a Small Town? In. R. García-Mira, D.L. Uzzell, J. E. Real, J. Romay (eds). *Housing, Space and Quality of Life* (pp. 81-97). Aldershot, UK: Ashgate.

Preiser, W. F. E. 1995. Post-occupancy evaluation: how to make buildings work better. *Facilities*, *13* (11): 19–28

Rapoport, A. 1982. *The Meaning of the Built Environment: A Nonverbal Communication Approach*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.

Rapoport, A. 1985. Thinking about home environments; a conceptual framework. In I. Altman & C. M. Werner (Eds). *Home environments*, pp. 255-280. New York: Plenum Press.

Rapport, N., & Dawson, A. 1998. Home and Movement: A Polemic. In N. Rapport, & A. Dawson (Eds.), *Migrants of Identity. Perceptions of Home in a World of Movement*, pp. 19-38. Oxford: Berg.

Reckwitz, A. 2002. Toward a Theory of Social Practices. A Development in Culturalist Theorizing. *European Journal of Social Theory*, 5 (2): 243–263

Regjeringen.no. 2014. *Schengen og justissamarbeid*. Web-info (updated 22.04.2014): https://www.regjeringen.no/no/tema/europapolitikk/tema-norge-eu/schengen-justis-samarbeid/id684929/ [accessed 2015-11-03]

Robinson, J. W. 2006. *Institution and Home: Architecture as cultural medium*. Amsterdam: Techne Press.

Ryff, C. D. 1989. Happiness is everything, or is it? Explorations on the meaning of psychological well-being. *Journal of personality and social Psychology*, 57 (6): 1069-1081.

Rykwert, Joseph. 1991. House and Home. Social Research. 58 (Spring): 51-62.

Sadalla, E. K. & Sheets, V. L. 1993. Symbolism in Building Materials. Self presentation and cognitive components. *Environment and Behavior*, 25: 155-180.

Schneider, T. and Till, J. 2009. Beyond Discourse: Notes on Spatial Agency. *Footprint* 04: 97-111.

Saegert, S. 1985. The role of housing in the experience of dwelling. In I. Altman & C. M. Werner (Eds.) *Home Environments*, pp. 287-309. New York: Plenum Press.

Shove, E., Watson, M., Hand, M. and Ingram, J. 2007: *The Design of Everyday Life*. Oxford: Berg.

Sommerville, P. 1997. The social construction of home. *Journal of Architectural and Planning Research*, 14: 226-245.

SSI. 2011. *Lägenhetsboende för asylsökande (Anläggningsboende – ABO)*, Workshop Agreement, SIS-WA 2:2011

Strumse, E., Grønseth. A. S. and Støa, E. 2016 forthcoming. *Fysiske omgivelsers virkning på trivsel og konfliktnivå: Spørreundersøkelse om boforhold på asylmottak i Norge*. HiL Forskningsrapport nr. 170/2016. Lillehammer: Skriftserie Høgskolen i Lillehammer (HiL)

Støa, E, Høyland, K and Wågø, S. 2006. *Bokvalitet i små boliger. Studier av fem boligprosjekter i Trondheim.* SINTEF Byggforsk report: SBF51 A06004, Trondheim

Symes, M, Duffy, F. and Ellis, P. 1985. Research and Practice: "A Case History". *Environment and Behavior*, 17 (1): 119-132

Taylor, S., Repetti, R., and Seeman, T. 1997. Health psychology: What is an unhealthy environment and how does it get under the skin? *Annual Review of Psychology*, 48. 411-447.

Thorshaug, R.Ø. 2011. *Interminably Displaced? Home-making practices among Georgian IDPs in Collective Centres in the context of privatisation*. Master's thesis. NTNU

Till, J. 2009. Architecture depends (Cambridge MA / London: MIT Press

Valenta, M. and Berg, B. (eds.). 2012. *Asylsøker i velferdsstatens venterom*. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget

UDI. 2008. Kravspesifikasjon til driftsreglementet (kravspesifikasjonen). Oslo: UDI.

UDI. 2014a. Botid på norske mottak. Mailutveksling med UDI-ansatt 08.12.2014.

UDI. 2014b. Kort tilbakeblikk på mottakssystemet, dokument utdelt på UDIs vårkonferanse 15.05.2014. Oslo: Oslo kongressenter.

Vokes, R. 2013. The House Unbuild: Actor-Networks, Social Agency and the Ethnography of a Residence in South-Western Uganda. *Social Anthropology*, Vol.21(4), pp.523-541

Wachs, T.D., and Corapci, F. 2003. Environmental chaos, development and parenting across cultures. In Raeff, C. and Benson, J. (eds.) *Social and Cognitive development in the context of individual, social and cultural processes.* pp. 54-83. New York, NY: Routledge.

Wachs, T. D. and Gruen G. E. 1982. *Early experience and human development*. New York. NY: Plenum Press.

Widmayer, S.M., Peterson L.M., Larner M., Carnahan S., Calderon A., Wingerd J., et al., 1990. Predictrs of Haitian-American infant development at twelve months. *Child Development*. 61(2): 410-415.

Wilson, P. J. 1988. *The Domestication of the Human Species*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.

Wilson, M. and Mackenzie, N. E. (2000). Social attributions based on domestic interiors. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 20: 343-354.

Winther, I. W. 2009. 'Homing oneself' – Home as a practice. In Penner, B and Pavlovits, D. (eds): *Home and Space*, Haecceity Papers, 04 (02): pp 49-83. Sydney University Press,

Woodin, S. Delves, C. & Wadhams, C. 1996. *Just what the doctor ordered*. London: London Borough of Hackney.

Yaneva, A and Guy, S. 2008. Understanding Architecture, Accounting Society, Guest editorial in *Science Studies* 21 (1): 3–7.

Young, I. M. 2005. *On Female Body Experience: Throwing like a Girl and Other Essays*. New York: Oxford University Press.

WHO. 2014. Mental health: a state of well-being, WHO web-site: http://www.who.int/features/factfiles/mental_health/en [accessed 2015-13-08]

Özoy, A and Gökmen, G. P. 2005. Space use, Dwelling Layout and Housing Quality: An Example of Low-Cost housing in Istanbul. In: García-Mira, R., Uzzell, D. L., Real, J. E. and Romay, J. (eds). *Housing, Space and Quality of Life*, pp. 17-29. Aldershot, UK: Ashgate.

Endnotes

¹ Levi-Strauss proposes house societies as a transition between kin-based and class-based societies (1987:151). While the forces at play in this assertion is less explained, it has brought attention to a useful perspective of how houses can be used as a strategy to extend the idiom of the family or connect family identity beyond its classificatory limits (see Headley 1987:210).

² Parts of the text in this section are previously published inn Hauge's PhD thesis (Hauge 2009).

³ By this, Malinowski can be seen to open for what has later often been understood as the basic unit of social and economic life; 'the household' (Goody 1958).

⁴ Parts of the text in this section are previously published inn Thorshaug's master thesis (Thorshaug 2011).

⁵ The authors are referring to Anthony Giddens, *The Constitution of Society: Outline of the Theory of Structuration* (Berkeley, Cal.: University of California Press, 1984).

⁶ Today is of 2015, just before the dramatic increase of arrivals which have led to partial changes in the refugee reception system.

⁷ Excepted from this is in desentralised reception centres where ordinary housing is used for smaller groups of asylum seekers

⁸ We have chosen to translate the Norwegian term "nøkternt men forsvarlig" with "simple but reasonable". *Reasonable* is however not a fully adequate translation for *forsvarlig* since this means not only *reasonable*, understood as *proper*, *sound* and *safe* but has also connotations to *dignity* and *decency*.

⁹ According to www.udi.no the number of centres in October 2015 was 134

¹⁰ This report is based on a survey from 2013, so the numbers may likely be somewhat different today.

¹¹ See: http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/home-affairs/what-we-do/policies/asylum/reception-conditions/index en.htm

¹² The Dublin Regulation implies that an application for asylum should be processed by the first Dublin country the asylum seeker comes to. See: http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/home-affairs/what-we-do/policies/asylum/examination-of-applicants/index_en.htm

¹³ EMN is coordinated by the European commission abs provides comparable information on migration and asylum topics to EU-states as well as Norway. See: http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/home-affairs/what-we-do/networks/european_migration_network/index_en.htm

¹⁴ ENARO is an inter-institutional network between 22 European organisations, set up to arrange the reception of asylum seekers. The Norwegian reception centre operator HERO is a member. See: http://www.enaro.eu/

¹⁵ EPRA is a European exchange network. It is a forum for national administrations responsible for reception with the focus on strategic aspects, and the Norwegian UDI is a member of this network. EPRA is coordinated by the Belgian FEDASIL, hosting the EPRA coordination team. The goal of the platform is to stimulate strategic information sharing on a senior management level, compilation of information, identification and monitoring of best practices with a view to efficient and informed management of asylum reception in the EU. One of the topic is "Reception standards". See: http://fedasil.be/files/explorer/EPRA briefing note May 2015.pdf



Postboks 194, 2601 Lillehammer. Tlf. 95 08 10 94 Besøksadresse: Gudbrandsdalsvegen 350. E-post: bok.lillehammer@sopp.no

Sopp Bok er SOPPs fagbokhandel på Høgskolen i Lillehammer. Vår oppgave er å betjene hele høgskolemiljøet med faglitteratur. Hvis du har spesielle behov innen faglitteratur vil vi hjelpe deg så langt det er mulig.

Sopp Bok er Lillehammers største bokhandel innen faglitteratur, og vi har også et stort utvalg kontor- og studentrekvisita.

For bestilling av bøker, send e-post til: bok.lillehammer@sopp.no

Høgskolen i Lillehammer / Lillehammer University College Postboks/P. O. Box 952, 2604 Lillehammer, Norway Telefon/phone: (+47) 61 28 80 00

www.hil.no